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Preface

This is the true story of the travels and adventures
of a Portuguese conquistador turned missionary who, at
the beginning of the seventeenth century, made one of
the most daring journeys of discovery ever made by man.
In his search for the legendary Cathay he made a
remarkable journey across Central Asia, from Agra in
India to Suchow in China, passing through countries
never again visited by Europeans till the late nineteenth
century.

Ascending from the sun-drenched plains of
Hindustan to the stupendous mountain ranges of Central
Asia, crossing high, wind-swept plateaux and sandy,
waterless, deserts, he finally reached China after
incredible hardships. With only one companion, his
journey of more than four thousand kilometres lasted
over four years. He was finally detained as a prisoner for
seventeen months at the very gateway of China, where
he died, believed poisoned.

A later Jesuit has written:

"Goes, in seeking Cathay, had found countries and towns,
mountains and deserts marked on no map, Chinese or
European. He had stitched the great multi-coloured stuff of
central Asia into place between hempen India and silken
China, cut open the great melon of which his contemporaries
had merely fingered the rind."

A word as to the sources. Goes's diary, in which he
noted down the various events day by day, has not come
down to us in its entirety. After his death it was



destroyed by Mohammedan fellow-travellers, and only a
few fragments could be saved by his faithful Armenian
travelling-companion Isaac, who took them to Peking and
placed them in the hands of the famous Jesuit
astronomer, Father Matthew Ricci. With the help of these
precious remains and the oral account of the Armenian,
Ricci pieced together the narrative of the journey as well
as he could. A full bibliography appears on page 295.

George Bishop
Bourne, Lincs.
1997
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Chapler 1

In, But Not Of, The World

A baking sun blazed down from a deep cobalt sky. A
mud-brown river meandered languorously to lose itself in
the deep aquamarine of the Malabar sea. Near the bank
a mahout, using a coconut husk, was scrubbing a
mountainous mass of jet-black elephant lying
half-submerged in the green water. The mahout was a
young boy, perhaps ten or eleven years old. He gave
some mysterious command and the great hulk of animal,
obeying like a child, turned on its side. The young
mahout began scrubbing this other side. The noble
animal had half closed its tiny eyes, wallowing in the
luxury. If elephants could smile, this one was laughing.
Ochre dust blanketed the deep green of the giant mango
trees. Bats, thousands of them, hung upside down in the
shade of an old banyan tree which sent down its
branches into the earth and struck root. He passed a
temple. In the foreground was a giant carved lingam in
the shape of a phallus. He had heard about these phallic
symbols of the god Siva, symbols of creation, of sexual
voluptuousness, but he had never seen one before. He
removed his helmet and mopped his brow.

Near the temple, under the ancient trees with their
twisted trunks and gnarled barks, were rows of statues
of Hindu deities — of Brahma, Hanuman, Kali, Krishna,
Vishnu. Before one of these a half-naked woman and a
completely naked boy were doing their puja with a
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bowlful of rice and a garland of saffron-coloured
marigolds. A sadhu (holy man), eyes closed, his face a
picture of serenity borne out of the resignation of the
East, was too engrossed in his mantras to take any
notice of the conquistador. He donned his helmet to
protect his head from the sun and moved on. A frail old
woman, her wizened arms thin and gnarled from years of
back-breaking toil, without ever having anything to eat,
clad in a cheap, cotton saree was hastily removing pats
of cow-dung from the wall of her mud house in case they
became wet and unfit for use as fuel. Her age-old
peasant’s instinct told her it was going to rain.

She was right. The cobalt sky was suddenly black
with dark, angry, clouds. The wind off the Arabian Gulf
increased in intensity. One large splattering drop of rain
was soon followed by others. The wind and the rain
intensified. During the monsoon season a violent storm
would spring up in a matter of minutes. What had been
a drizzle was now a raging cyclone. The wind howled; the
rain came down in floods, as if some giant sluice had
been opened in the sky. The crashes of thunder deafened
him. The lightning, flash after forked flash, came brilliant
white, illuminating the whole coast as if by some giant
pyrotechnics display. The tall, slender, palm trees leaned
forward to oppose the ferocious wind; their long leaves
tossed and flayed in all directions, giving them the
appearance of enraged serpents struggling to break loose
from their Medusa heads. The huge waves, frothing and
foaming with anger, crashed and pounded into the small
port of Kolechi on the Travancove coast of southern
India.

The conquistador, by now soaked to the skin,
crouched even lower as he struggled against the wind
and the wall of rain. He even drew his sword as if to cut
a path through the liquid wall. The rain drops had
coalesced into sheets of water that bucketed in cataracts
from the angry skies. The rain struck the earth with
such violence that it beat up a fine mist above the
ground. The path was strewn with coconuts and green
mangoes that had been prematurely and
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unceremoniously dislodged from their parent trees. He
looked for some shelter. There were some white wooden
buildings ahead; but their doors were bolted against the
force of the hurricane. Beyond was another, larger, white
building. He made a dash for that.

He clambered up the three steps. He stood panting
on the porch. When he had regained his breath he made
his way into a brick and stone structure. The rain beat
down against the windows and blew in under the door. It
was too dark to see anything. As his eyes accustomed
themselves to the dark interior, he could pick out one
red light. From the light trying to peep in through a large
window, covered in creepers, he could see the silhouette
of a large cross. He was in a church. He wasn't sure
whether he was glad or angry. At least he was out of the
rain. But he was late; he should have been back on his
warship, riding anchor off the Malabar coast, a long time
ago.
The soldier took off his helmet as he made his way
slowly into the church, the water still dripping off his
clothes.

He laid his sword beside him on the wooden pew. A
large pool of water formed where he sat.

A few months ago he would have been more than
surprised to see a woman with bare breasts in the street,
let alone in a church. She was probably of the Nayar
community. She wore just a piece of cloth from her waist
to her knees. By a strange reversal of Western notions,
only women of lower caste or of indifferent morals wore a
cloth over their bosoms. Scarlet flowers of the silk-cotton
tree contrasted with the jet black of her hair. In the
elongated lobes of her ears she wore beads in tomato red
and indigo blue. Occasionally, as she moved her arms,
the bangles on her wrists would jingle. Presently she
made her way to a side altar where a candle in a red
receptacle, flickering precariously in the gusts of wind,
signified the Real Presence. Her long slender fingers
made the sign of the cross. The conquistador was
bemused by it all. These Christians boasted an even
earlier acquaintance with the faith than the Christians of
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Ancient Christian church, with its Jesuit facade,
on the Malabar Coast
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Western Europe. They were the descendants of those
early natives of the Malabar and Coromandel coasts of
southern India where St: Thomas the Apostle — the
‘doubter’ — had preached to them in A.D. 52, before he
was martyred near Madras sixteen years later. When the
Portuguese priests arrived in the early sixteenth century
they found no less than sixty thousand Christians in
Malabar, descendants of St. Thomas' indigenous
Christian converts and of the Christian immigrants from
the Church of Persia in the fourth and ninth centuries. It
was miraculous that they had managed to keep their
faith all those years in view of the constant persecution
and harassment by the Tamil Hindus and the Sinhalese
Buddhists who had come over from Ceylon. In 1544 the
King of Jaffna had massacred seven hundred Christians.

The soldier gazed up at the large crucifix suspended
before the altar. Tears were falling from its face In his
native Azores such a phenomenon would have been
greeted with shouts of ‘Milagre! Milagre!’. But the soldier
was too worldly-wise for miracles and ‘signs’. The ‘tears’
were easy to explain: it was water seeping through a hole
in the roof and landing on the wooden crucifix.

The Incarnation! That a God should have a Son, who
was also God, and then let Him die a wretched and
ignominious death — for the likes of him! That was too
outrageous a notion for any mortal to conjure up — or
believe. So preposterous an idea could only have been
conceived by — a God.

There was no sign of the storm abating. Indeed, every
now and again the interior of the church was floodlit by
flashes of lightning. The angry roar of the rain as it
hammered on the roof of the church was silenced by the
mighty claps of thunder, far louder and more frightening
than he had ever heard on the battlefield. The
conquistador was forced to bide his time. He thought
back to the little village in Vila Franca do Compo, on the
island of San Miguel, in the Azores, where he had been
born (in 1562). He remembered how he used to Kkick
away the stones on the dusty road as he held his
mother's hand on the way to church. His mother! His
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family! Why had he left them for this? A life of pillage
and cruelty, of bloodshed and rapine, hated by
everybody, to be cut short, in all probability prematurely,
by a foreign bullet or a native knife, or to succumb to
plague or typhus or cholera or leprosy or smallpox or
dysentery or malaria or black-water fever — the
possibilities were many; to be buried unknown and
unsung in a steamy, stinking, hostile country, a vast,
unfathomable country of snakes and wild beasts, of
temples and jungles, of floods and droughts and
earthquakes. Portuguese possessions, strung up and
down the coast but never extending inland further than
a day's march from their boats, had been wrested from
the Hindus and the Mohammedans with unforgettable
outrage. These waited their turn to wreak revenge on the
imperialists — the Farangui (pariahs) as they were called.

He thought back to the events that had brought him
to the jungle marshes of the Malabar Coast.

It had been early April when the five ships of the
Portuguese fleet heading for the East Indies had left
Lisbon, the once-a-year departure of the carracks being
timed to take advantage of the favourable monsoon
winds which, for thirty days in August and September,
would carry them across the Indian Ocean to India and
beyond. These carracks, of up to two thousand tons,
were the biggest ships in the world, requiring two
hundred men and two large capstans to raise the yard.
Forty bronze, 75-pounder cannon, each weighing two
tons, poked out menacingly from their points of vantage.
He had watched the loading of the large, two-masted,
four-decked carrack, with its towering poop and prow; a
seemingly endless procession of chests carrying several
thousands of silver crowns, part to pay for the cost of
the government and garrisons in the East, part to be
traded. There were arms and munitions. There was all
kinds of merchandise: cloths, especially scarlet cloth,
even, incongruously for the tropics, woollens; crystal and
glassware; Flemish clocks; Dutch clocks; Portuguese
wines; oil, olives, vinegar, paper, books: lead and
ironware. Then the human cargo had boarded. First the



In, But Not Of, The World 7

convicts who had been condemned to death or were
serving life sentences, manacled hand and foot, were
interred into the bowels of the man-o'-war. Such men
were sent on expeditions so that they could be used as
guinea-pigs on dangerous ventures rather than risking
the lives of seamen. Then had followed the soldiers,
administrators, merchants, adventurers, about five
hundred of them, packed seemingly everywhere in the
interstices of the ship. Last to board was a
viceroy-designate to Portuguese India: a tall, thin figure,
with long uncurled moustache and pointed beard, clad in
cloak, doublet and hose, a sword at his belt.

Hymns were sung and prayers recited against the
dangers of the voyage. So hazardous was the journey
that less than half the carracks ever returned safely to
Portugal. Their average length of life was under three
years. Of the passengers on the ships a large percentage
died en route. To the sound of cheering patriots and the
wailing of wives and children, to trumpets and gunfire,
the fleet had cast off from the quay, appropriately called
the Place of Tears, and set sail down the slate-grey
waters of the Tagus into the Atlantic Ocean.

For fear of attack by French or Dutch or English
men-o’-war the carracks sailed in convoy.

Five days out, within sight of Porto Santo in the
Madeiras, they had met a French corsair, but after a
few shots from both sides, the short engagement ended.
They passed the high mountains of the island of
Tenerife. Through the Canaries the weather was
atrocious, with much thunder and lightning and rain
and sudden gusts of wind which meant lowering the
heavy mainyard as often as ten or twelve times a day.
The captains of the ships had to navigate very skilfully
otherwise a wind would carry the carrack not to the
East Indies but to the West. (In fact, that was how
Brazil had been discovered accidentally by Portuguese
sailors who had set out for the Cape of Good Hope and
India.) Sailing from east to west or vice-versa was
difficult because there was no fixed point in the sky to
direct one's course. Whilst one could measure one's
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latitude with fair exactness, knowing one's longitude
was a matter of guess-work.

The weather had remained foul, but he had been so
seasick, lying in his narrow, rope hammock, he would
have been glad if the carrack had sunk. He could not
face the dry biscuits, and the water was so foul that one
needed to place a piece of cloth in the mouth to filter it
of worms, caused by unclean receptacles and by the
natural process of putrefaction.

Then they were becalmed for days: there was no wind
at all; the ships did not move. They were in the
doldrums. There was nothing to do but gaze at the
distant coastline of Guinea, beyond which lay the then
unknown continent of Africa. Or observe the abundance
of marine life such as the huge Portuguese ‘men-o'-war’,
brilliantly coloured Medusa or jelly-fish, with their long
poisonous, stinging tentacles with which they caught
their prey. Pilot fishes led their sharks to whatever food
was available, themselves feeding on the excreta of the
sharks. And the heat was intense: it was so hot that the
pitch between the pine planks and even the tallow
candles melted. Many fell prey to the ‘disease of the
gums’, as scurvy was called, turning the carrack into a
hospital ship, but without doctors or medicine. First the
gums and legs would swell, then the body would become
so sore that one’s limbs couldn’'t move. Finally the victim
would die from weakness. Dysentery and ague were other
fatal maladies. The Captain’s whistle, calling for prayers
for yet another victim, became too frequent to warrant
attention.

Finally, one day, a breeze had swept them across the
line, the equator, into the favourable winds of the
southern hemisphere.

The Pole Star was no longer visible; the Southern
Cross appeared instead. As they neared the Cape of
Good Hope, feared of all men because of its storms —
Bartholomew Diaz who had discovered it in 1486 had
aptly named it ‘Cape Tempestuous’ — they were greeted
with mountainous waves. An albatross, ten feet in span,
followed the carrack. So did other birds, like the rushtail
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(the ‘bosun’ or ‘tropic bird’), and the forked tail (frigate’
bird), and numerous terms. When they rounded the Cape
he, along with the other soldiers on board, had thrown
his knife and fork overboard in keeping with the old
Portuguese custom to signal they had left their old way
of life behind them. And the viceroy-designate
presumably had opened the King's sealed letters, for at
the Cape the King's jurisdiction ended and his began.
The orders would have been much the same as they ever
were: strengthen forts, guard the Malabar coast,
manufacture gunpowder, found cannon and at all costs
destroy the Dutch and French.

It was near the Cape that they nearly ran aground.
Because of the rocks and quicksands they often could
not sail at night. By now they had been at sea for seven
months, two months longer than the usual time. They
had neither meat nor anything else to eat. A providential
encounter with a shoal of fishes enabled them to eat
again. The carracks slowly made their way northward.
Nearing Mozambique they had difficulty in negotiating
the coral reefs and sand banks, covered during the
spring tides, surrounding the Angoza Islands. Finally
they reached Mozambique, a town on an island with a
small, safe harbour. It was captured from the Moors in
1507, when the Portuguese built a fortress there. The
fortress was surrounded by straw-houses that housed
the local inhabitants: aborigines with bones through
their cheeks, teeth filed sharp, with ivory tips to their
spears. Here they stayed for a fortnight to take on water
and provisions for the final run to India, a voyage lasting
a month. Oranges, apples, lemons, limes, bananas,
guavas, papaya and fresh meat slowly restored to health
the many crew and passengers suffering from scurvy.
Despite the fruit, the foggy mists and the intense heat of
summer made the island an wunhealthy place,
appropriately called the Cemetery of the Portuguese.
Before departing they took on a cargo of African slaves.

The carracks crossed the equator yet again and
sailed past the coast of Abyssinia which, alone in
northern Africa, had resisted the march of Islam. They
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then made their last leg of the journey across the Indian
Ocean. Boughs of palms and snakes swimming on the
water, together with the sight of a few Indian birds,
indicated they were near the Indian mainland. This they
finally reached in October, disembarking at the port of
Goa. As salvos of cannon boomed across the water, as
the church bells rang, as a band played martial music,
the Viceroy landed on the quayside, in front of the mint
and cannon foundry. To the applause of the welcoming
crowds he proceeded in state through a series of
triumphal arches to his palace — more imposing without
than within since it was the practice of the outgoing
Viceroy to strip it bare of furniture. No Viceroy was
appointed for more than three years, which was not a
long time in which to amass a fortune. So he usually
made up for little time by accepting bribes, buying and
selling private offices and other perquisites, and by
condoning heinous injustices. Usually a Viceroy spent
the first year of office getting to know his work, his
second year amassing a fortune, his third visiting key
forts.

The torrential monsoon rain stopped suddenly, just
as suddenly as it had started. He had not noticed the
young woman take her leave from the side chapel. He
stepped out of the church. The sun raised steam from
the ground so that all the countryside was like a steam
bath. A damp, steamy heat lay oppressively over
everything. It seemed the very jungle sweated and
writhed and grew in the wet heat. The air, still and
damp, hung heavily like a blanket over the drenched
earth. No breeze stirred or bent the palms. The huge
mango trees, their leaves washed clean, appeared in the
full dignity and splendour of their deep emerald green.
Soon the setting sun was low over the horizon, turning
the scudding clouds above into a majestic magenta and
gold. Everything was bathed in a yellow, sulphurous
light, the last faint flush from the glow in the west. A
tiny urchin, the colour of his black water-buffaloes,
herded them into the sunset beyond the spice mountains
with a long bamboo pole. There was the smell of burning
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wood and cow-dung, mingled with the scent of sweet
jasmine and marigold and spices. The bamboo rustled in
the faint breeze that always came up for a moment when
the sun set.- This was the twilight hour, the magic hour
of the East, when the drenching sweetness of purple lilac
and waxen-white syringa hung on the air. Was this,
perhaps, why he had come to this vast sub-continent?
But like all magic, the twilight hour was short. The
flaming sun, with a sudden plunge, dipped below the
horizon and left the world to the blue of the Indian night.
It was as if the whole world stood still for a second and
then slipped swiftly into an abyss of darkness. The velvet
darkness closed in as if a curtain had come down, and
the stars all came out at once, glittering like diamonds
on a maharani's saree. In the distance he could hear the
dull thumping of brown fingers on the tom-toms, the
male and female drum, and then slowly the lilt of a flute
joined in.

Now it was not all magic. As he hurried his footsteps
towards the sea, now bathed in phosphorescent light, he
could hear the jackals and the maniacal laughter of the
hyenas, baying at the moon. This was their hour when
the sudden darkness gave to their cowardly yellow bodies
the courage to creep out of the jungle and seek what had
died during the day. And the rains was the season when
the snakes would come out, too, from their hiding places
in old roots and crannies — the cobras, the Russell’'s
vipers, the diminutive but deadly kraits and even the
giant pythons. He had heard about a man who had sat
down for a rest on a tree trunk. When the trunk began
to move he realised he had been sitting on a python.
Great bats darted from one compass point to another, as
billions of insects struck up their pizzicato orchestration,
the giant bullfrogs providing the bass descant. The
twinkling green efflorescent light from an occasional
firefly was comforting, but hardly illuminating. In the
pale, ghostly, light of the rising moon, he could make out
in the distance the silhouette of a man in a dug-out
canoe. He hoped the ferryman would row him over to his
ship, now ablaze with lights, which rode anchor in the



In, But Not Of, The World 13

bay. He dared not contemplate what reception his late
arrival on board would occasion.

=y

The rainy season was over; it was now drier and
cooler. The conquistador strode past the thatched huts
overlooking the long beaches of white sand where the
surf rolled in to groves of palm trees. Now the slender
palms stood erect, their leaves hanging limp and listless.
A giant black elephant — the same one? he wondered —
with a ton of palm leaves tucked in between its long,
sparkling, sword-like tusks, carried home its dinner, and
a huge metal chain buckled round its mid-riff, clanging
as it did so. The walls of the mud houses were decorated
with pats of cow-dung drying out in the sun. A small
urchin, possibly the same one, drove his herd of
water-buffaloes into the green slime of the stagnant
marshes. He wondered if the semi-naked Nayar woman
would be at her devotions. He climbed up the steps of
the old church. It was some time before his eyes got
accustomed to the dark inside. The candle glowed in its
red receptacle. But the Nayar woman was not there. A
grey-haired man in a shabby soutane, his lined face a
testimony to years of hard living in the tropics, was bent
over his breviary next to on open confessional. The large
wooden crucifix looked down over the aisle. The
conquistador knelt down. Since the afternoon when a
torrential tropical storm had driven the conquistador to
take shelter in a church, he had thought much about his
life, the purposelessness and futility of it all. A burning
restlessness consumed him, not knowing what it was he
sought. ‘Whither should my heart flee from my heart?’
Like the great sinner and saint one thousand years
before him, St. Augustine, he had the choice of two
worlds — the city of the world or the city of God. Slowly
the revelation had come to him. As St. Augustine had
said at the beginning of his Confessions: “Thou madest
us for Thyself, and our heart is restless until it repose in
Thee.” Like Augustine he chose the latter — the city of
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God: it was the only reality, all else was meaningless. No
tears of water ran down the face on the cross this
afternoon. There were tears — but from his own eyes. He
repeated Augustine’s words:

“Late have | loved Thee, O Thou Beauty of ancient days, yet
ever new! Late | love Thee! Late, late | love Thee, O my God,

but | am come at last. Late have | loved Thee, yet never
loved | till now.”

“The half hours went by. He lost count of the time.

He slowly made his way down the church steps. He
made his way to the centre of the town. A group of
women were pounding grain in the hollowed out trunk of
a tree. Another group were pounding soiled linen on
rocks. A line of cows threw up a cloud of red dust as
they ambled off to pasture. A cloud of black vultures and
kites swirled round and round, circling lower and lower,
not darting, cleanly, like eagles and falcons, but
swooping lazily down because their victims were dead
and there was no reason for haste. As he passed one
black cluster of writhing, quarrelling vultures, pulling
and tearing and gorging themselves, they barely flapped
away a short distance, to return to their feasting as soon
as he had gone. Not far away were the bones of a cow or
dog or donkey picked white and clean by the vultures.
Past the betel palms, and pepper trees, past the
tamarind tree, past the silk-cotton tree, its scarlet
flowers hanging limp in the dry heat, past the neam tree,
under the low branches of a jackfruit tree, past more
trees hung with orchids and petunias and ivy geraniums,
past the barrier of prickly pear, down the avenue of Java
fig trees, till he came to the Jesuit House. He had made
up his mind. He would make a complete holocaust of
himself. The house was covered in greenery — climbing
vines and creepers, clematis and trumpet and
moonflower vines and trailing bougainvillaea. On the
house and on the walls jasmine, begonia, convulvulus
and scarlet creeper had sent out their long tender shoots
of lettuce green which were choking everything, climbing
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across doors and windows and the low sloping roof. The
flowerbeds were a jungle of colour, where cannas and
geraniums, marigold and hollyhock, hibiscus and
nasturtium, fuschia and calendula, zinnia and carnation,
scarlet poinsettia, ran riot. Great banks of wine and
mauve rhododendrons provided a background of soft
flame. He climbed up the three wooden steps leading to
the verandah of the house. A pair of lizards, basking in
the sun, scampered away. Below the house a cow, some
goats and a pig took shelter from the tropic sun. The
house was built off the ground to keep out the damp and
the many numerous snakes that frequented the area. He
knocked.

He took off his helmet and looked up at the huge
man before him. The conquistador was of no mean build
himself, but the figure confronting him dwarfed him.

“I want to be a Jesuit!”

The tall figure, just aroused from his accustomed
siesta in the heat of the day, blinked.

“A Jesuit?” he asked, just to make sure his ears were
not playing tricks on him.

There was an embarrassing pause, with the slightest
hint of irritation on the conquistador’s part.

“Yes, a Jesuit,” he repeated.

There was a further pause,

“But you are a soldier,” the big figure blurted out the
obvious. He at once realised his faux-pas and
immediately took pains to show he meant no disrespect,
even though the generally dissolute life of the common
soldier was hardly a good preparation for a life of
celibacy, poverty and prayer. He remembered that the
founder of his own Order had been a soldier.

The Company or Society of Jesus — or Jesuits —
was founded in 1540 by a Basque nobleman and
courtier, Ignatius of Loyola. Up to his twenty-sixth year
he was “a man given over to the vanities of the world,
and took a special delight in the exercise of arms, with a
great and vain desire of winning glory!” One day in 1521,
while defending the town of Pamplona against the vastly
superior French forces, a French cannon-ball smashed
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into both his legs; both Ignatius and Pamplona fell. After
his legs were set badly, the wounded knight was carried
on a stretcher to his native Loyola. For eight months he
languished in bed. At his own insistence his leg was
broken twice by doctors in an attempt to correct a limp
which had developed — for how could a cripple win the
affections of a noble lady? As he lay on his sick bed he
dreamt of winning great battles against the Turks, of the
deeds of daring he would undertake to win the lady of
his desires, rumoured to be no less than the Infanta
Catarina of Spain.

He passed the days reading everything at hand. At
last the stock of the more usual reading matter came to
an end. He was forced into reading A Life of Christ and
the Lives of the Saints. By the time his legs had mended
so too had his life of dissipation. He now dreamt of doing
great deeds for God. ‘Ad majorem Dei gloriam’ was his
new battle-cry. He gathered six like-minded men around
him in Paris and formed his Company on the model of a
regiment drilled and disciplined with exacting severity for
its work of renewing the Church and transforming
society by day-to-day involvement in the life of the world.

“But do you know what is involved?” the big man
asked, fixing the soldier with the penetrating eyes of a
startling blueness.

“It's a killing life,” he went on. “It is an insuperable
drain upon body and spirit. It is fourteen years hard
labour — penal servitude — even before you are
ordained. People die of homesickness and heartbreak
and despair long before the novitiate is up.”

He continued to fix the soldier. There was a pause.

“But you didn't die, Father,” replied the conquistador,
a wry smile spreading over the tanned face.

The priest was beaten.

The conquistador was asked the usual questions. His
name was Bento de Goes. He had been born twenty-two
years ago in the Azores. He never disclosed the reason
for leaving his beloved Azores. His education and his
bfeeding suggested he had been educated for a position
higher than that of a common soldier. Had he, like many
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a wild youth, enlisted for the Indies in consequence of
some youthful escapade? wondered the priest.

Some weeks later, in February 1584, the young
conquistador Bento de Goes,* laid aside his sword and
exchanged his uniform for the habit — a black soutane
and sandals — as a novice of the Society of Jesus.

Life was now very different from that of a soldier of
the Royal Portuguese Fleet. He made the thirty-day
Retreat known as the Spiritual Exercises; he began to
learn how to pray, how to acquire the art of acting
against his own inclinations. Life was one round of
prayer and contemplation alternating with the hum-drum
day-to-day activities, even to cleaning out the toilets,
designed to foster obedience and humility.

But before two years had elapsed the novice decided
to quit. For a man of action the classroom studies proved
difficult. But that was not the main reason for his
quitting. From the deepest reaches of his heart he felt he
was not, nor ever could be, worthy enough to be a priest
who would one day, at the consecration, actually hold
the Body and Blood Christ in his hands. He exchanged
his soutane for the breast-plate and armour and sword.
He rejoined the colonial army and set sail with the
Portuguese fleet for the fever-ridden inferno of Ormuz,
which guarded the entrance to the Persian Gulf.

Four years later, at the end of March 1588, when the
fleet again touched Goa, Bento once again applied for
admission to the Society of Jesus and was admitted as a
lay brother. He was a novice once more. He was several
times given the option of entering upon a course of

* There is a romantic story that de Goes was not his real name. In
1854 a book published in the Azores described a young man called
Luiz Gongalves who, after disappointment in love, sailed for India
where he joined the Portuguese army. After a few years of
somewhat riotous living he repented of his excesses and joined the
Society of Jesus at Goa, at the same time changing his name to
Bento de Goes. However, the evidence suggests this story is not
quite true.
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theology with a view to the priesthood, but from a feeling
of humility he firmly declined. He would remain a Jesuit
lay brother. A Jesuit lay brother is a full member of the
Society. He is neither a servant nor a second-class
Jesuit. Though he is not ordained as a priest he takes
the same vows of poverty, celibacy and obedience.
Unquestioning obedience to orders was — and still is —
the guiding rule of the Jesuits. As a body they were
always obedient, no matter how extreme the cost. It is
this that has accounted for their remarkable success as
missionaries.

In 1593 de Goes made his solemn promise to
renounce the world, to forgo all possessions and all hope
of temporal power, and to live in any country where his
Superior might think him most useful: ‘ad majorem Dei
gloriam'. He consecrated his body, mind and will in the
three vows of poverty, chastity and obedience. He was
now dead to the values of the world. He would be in the
world, but not of the world.



Chapter 2

The Portuguese —
Conquistadors And Saints

In the first half of the fifteenth century For uguese
captains, inspired and directed by the genius of Prince
Henry the Navigator, nosed their ships down the west
coast of Africa, discovering a new continent. In the
second half of the century Diego Cao reached the mouth
of the Congo and Bartholomew Diaz rounded the Cape of
Good Hope. On May 29th, 1498, Vasco da Gama, after
an epic voyage of eleven thousand nautical miles via
Cape Verde, the Cape of Good Hope (where there was a
mutiny by his men off Mossel Bay) and Mozambique,
lasting 630 days, of which half were in open sea and
during which half of his crew died, finally dropped
anchor at Calicut. The sea route to the East had been
found.

Conqueror followed hard on the heels of explorer. With
the capture of Goa by Alfonso de Albuquerque in 25th of
November, 1510, the foundation of the Portuguese empire
in the East was laid. Goa became the capital of this empire
in India. In the wake of the conquerors Christian priests
sailed to baptise the new-born worlds. It was the twin
desires of gain and grace that drove men eastward.

In the early years of Christianity the Church had
entered thoroughly into the cultural life of the Roman
Empire. Without sacrificing doctrinal purity she



20 In Search of Cathay

preserved whatever was good from the old culture and
incorporated it into the new. But when the Moors
captured much of the Holy Land this attitude changed:
the Crusades against the Saracens introduced a legacy of
militancy and intolerance; the Sword and the Cross
became allies. When Albuquerque captured Goa he
massacred the entire Mohammedan population. For
centuries the Portuguese in Europe had fought a
life-and-death-struggle with the Moors and so such an
action was merely a continuation of that ‘holy’ war. All
non-Christian cultures came to be regarded as the work
of the devil. It was thought to be the work of God to
uproot them and plant Christian, European, culture in
their place. The idea that grace is operative even in a
pagan milieu was forgotten. By the fifteenth century
conditions had conspired to produce a particularly
vicious form of Europeanism: close union between the
mission and colonial imperialism. One result of this close
union and interpenetration of Church and State was that
kings and princes conceived it their duty to spread the
faith. It is seldom, however, that the weapons proper to
kings and commanders and swash-buckling traders are
those proper to saints. Christian ideals came to be
overshadowed by piracy and aggression.

In 1540 all Hindu temples in the island of Goa were
destroyed; in 1567 a law was passed forbidding a
Christian to keep infidel servants in his house, with the
result that thousands were obliged to adopt a religion
they neither believed nor understood in order to earn
their daily bread. Those who would not convert were
bribed or coerced. Converts were thoroughly
‘portugalised’ — obliged to take Portuguese names, wear
Portuguese dress, observe Portuguese customs. They
were cut off from their own people. The Portuguese, and
indeed other European nations, were proud and
intolerant; their general attitude towards eastern peoples
and cultures was one of arrogant contempt. Christianity
in any but a European setting was inconceivable.

Towards the end of the sixteenth century a
realisation of the errors of this ruthless, intolerant
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Europeanism began to appear among a few missionaries.
These were chiefly the Jesuits. The Spaniard Ignatius
Loyola, the founder of this new Order, was not afraid to
blaze new trails: he taught that no violence or force must
be used in propagating the faith. This was a sharp break
with the dominant spirit of the age. Much of the criticism
and hostility against Jesuits stemmed from the fact that
few at the time (or since} understood what the Jesuits
were trying to do. They were accused of being innovators,
of compromising the faith. What they were actually
attempting to do was to restore the original ideal of
Christianity as the leaven of the world, to renew the
world mission of the Church, to break down barrlers of
cultural, racial and national pride, to revive those
methods of cultural adaptation which had played so
prominent a part in the earlier centuries of Christian
evangelisation — namely, respect for native culture,
humility of mind and sensitivity to human values
whenever and wherever found. If missionaries hoped to
win the affection of the people they would have to adapt
themselves as much as possible to local habits and
indigenous belief. Christianity had to be presented in a
way which Eastern peoples could understand and
appreciate. This is exactly what the Jesuits set about
doing. When Francis Xavier landed on the coast of India
in 1542, his entire baggage consisted of what he was
wearing — an old cassock which he had mended himself
several times — and a breviary. He was admirably
equipped for a land which prided itself on selflessness
and asceticism.

In 1513 the Portuguese discovered the coast of
China. They settled on a tiny peninsula on China’s
southern coast and established a community at Macao.
When Allesandro Valignano, the Jesuit Visitor, returned
to Macao in 1582 he ordered the abandonment of the
policy of ‘portugalising’ converts. Chinese Christians were
to remain Chinese. Instead of ‘portugalising’ the Chinese
people the missionaries were to ‘sinicise’ themselves.

Valignano, born in the year that Francis Xavier died
(1552), a very tall man with piercing eyes and a large
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forceful jaw, was a Neapolitan nobleman of immense
presence and authority. Whilst a youth, just twenty-three
years old, he wounded a courtesan and was brought to
justice. He was banished from the Republic. Four years
later, a man of exceptional talents who well knew the
world and its ways, he entered the Society of Jesus, and
volunteered for the foreign missions. But the competition
was intense. Only men of outstanding spiritual,
intellectual and physical stamina were selected. In 1573
he was appointed Visitor to the Jesuit Missions in India.
It was here and also while he was in the Portuguese
enclave at Macao that Valignano realised that conversion
must follow on charity, not force. But charity
presupposed understanding and understanding a
knowledge of the native tongue.

It was two of Valignano's own pupils while he was
teaching at the Roman College who put his revolutionary
ideas on evangelisation into effect in a most remarkable
way. Michael Ruggieri was one: he was the first ever
European to learn the Chinese language; Matteo Ricci
was the other. These two men, in September 1583,
established at Chaoching the first Christian
establishment in the interior of China. This was a major
achievement because China was a world unto itself and
a closed world at that, forbidden to foreigners. Ricci was
admirably suited by temperament and background to
infiltrate the revolutionary doctrines of Christianity into
the body of Chinese culture and transform it from
within. He had monumental patience and exquisite tact.
The doors which for so many years had remained tightly
closed to the outside world began to yield under the
gentle pressure of sympathetic understanding.

Matteo Ricci entered the Society of Jesus on August
15th, 1571, much to his father's disappointment. After
thirteen months’ novitiate he pronounced his vows of
poverty, chastity and obedience and began further
studies at the Roman College. It was here that he came
under the influence of Valignano. He also had as tutors
Robert Bellarmine (later cardinal and canonised saint)
and Christopher  Clavius, the noted Jesuit
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mathematician, friend of both Kepler and Galileo, under
whom he studied the positive sciences. Ricci, like
Valignano, also volunteered for the foreign missions —
India, Ceylon, the Moluccas, China, Japan. He sailed
from Lisbon in March 1578, with thirteen other Jesuits,
and reached Goa six months later. After some years
teaching at the Jesuit College in Cochin, then the hub of
Christianity in India, where over four hundred young
men received an education as good as the one he himself
had received in Europe, he sailed for Macao in 1582.

From the outset Ricci came to realise that his
primary task was not to multiply baptisms but to win for
Christianity an accepted place in Chinese life. He
developed a tremendous love and respect for the people
and culture of China, combined with unaffected humility
which won him their respect and love. He exchanged his
European dress for the Chinese; he even changed his
name. It was this change of name that was to result in
considerable pain and anguish and suffering for the hero
of this book.
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Chaplter 3

Jesuits At The Mughal Court

Akbar, the great Mughal Emperor, was descended
from the redoubtable Tartar King, Tamerlain. (Temar was
a famous conqueror of the East. As a result of a fall from
his horse he was made lame. It was from this unhappy
event that he was called Temar-lang, Temar the Lame, or
Tamerlain as he is called in our history books.) Akbar
was the eighth king after him. Akbar had not yet reached
his fourteenth birthday when a Mughal chief arrived on
horseback to inform the young Prince that his father,
Humayan, had died as a result of a fall in the royal
palace at Delhi. The young heir was then at Kalanaur,
300 miles to the north. In order not to alarm the
populace a mullah (Muslim priest) named Bekasi, who
happened to resemble Humayan, would appear in public,
though at some distance from the people who were thus
not aware of the King's death until Akbar reached Delhi.
The territory Akbar came to rule was vast, stretching
from the river Indus and beyond into Persia in the west,
to Bengal and the jungles of Burma in the east; from
Tartary in the north, to the sea which washes the shores
of Gujerat in the south. Throughout his long reign he
added other kingdoms to his empire. These vast tracts of
land were governed by Captains whom he appointed or
by the Kings whom he had dispossessed and who then
acted as lieutenants for him. From these he extracted
tribute amounting to one-third of their revenues.
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In 1573, Dom Antonio, Viceroy in India of the King of
Portugal, sent an ambassador, Antonio Cabral, to the
court of Akbar who was then besieging Surat, not far
north of Daman, where the Portuguese had established
themselves. The Emperor, who was then in his
middle-thirties and had been king for nearly two
decades, was much impressed by the courteous
behaviour of Cabral. From Cabral he learned much of
the customs of the European nations. He learned, too,
something of Christianity. Hearing about a Christian
priest of eminent virtue in Bengal, Akbar sent for this
priest and had him brought to his palace at Fatehpur
Sikri, where he was made to engage in debate with the
mullahs and theologians from other religions.

Akbar, an epileptic who could neither read nor write,
had an exceptional mind which he devoted to searching
for ‘the truth’. At his capital in Fatehpur Sikri he had
built an ibadat-khana, a special hall for religious debate;
here he collected Sufis, Sunnis, Shias, Brahmins, Jains,
Christians, Jews, Zoroastrians, and also crack-brained
exponents of every variety of fantastic belief, where they
could meet, debate and argue. He would sit in the
middle and digest the arguments from all sides. He
intended to select the ‘best’ things known to man on the
subject of religion and then unite them all into one
single religion, which would be the ‘best’ of all religions.

He found Hinduism the broadest and most elastic of
all religious systems. Its attraction was its independence
of dogma and smallness of demands upon blind faith.
Though among the uneducated it borrowed shape from
the many myths, superstitions and customs with which
the common mind was already richly stocked, to a
sophisticated intelligence it was as fluid and colourless
as any brain-spun metaphysics. It was not a religion but
simply religiousness.

He had been brought up as a good Moslem. But then
he first questioned, then rejected and finally even began
to suppress that faith. So much so that the more
fanatical Moslems in his Kingdom were already secretly
encouraging Prince Salim, Akbar's eldest son, to
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overthrow his father, whilst a large percentage of the
population were secretly preparing to rally under Prince
Daniyal (the son by Akbar of a beautiful slave who died
at his birth).

Akbar was much impressed by what this priest from
Bengal had to say. He sent this letter to the Archbishop
of Goa in December 1578, or the year 990 in the Muslim
calendar.

“To the Chief Padre, in the Name of the Lord”
Letter of Jalaluddin Muhammad Akbar, the King, the hero!

‘I am sending Abdullah, my ambassador, and Dominic Perez
(an Armenian Christian, the interpreter), with the request that
you will send me learned Fathers, and the books of the Law,
especially the Gospel, that | may know the Law and its
excellence. For | desire to know it. And the Fathers may be
sure that | shall receive them most courteously, and entertain
them most handsomely. When | have leamt the Law
sufficiently to appreciate its excellence, then may they depart
at their pleasure, with an escort, and honoured with abundant
rewards. Let them come in perfect security. | take their
defence on myself.”

(Punjab Historical Society. Special Number Vol. V. No. 2.
Page 56. Calcutta 1916.)

This embassy of the Mughal Emperor arrived in Goa
in September 1579.

To the Jesuits this seemed a chance of another
Constantine for the Church, a heaven-sent opportunity
to convert a whole kingdom of heathens from the top
downwards. The problem that presented itself to the
Provincial of the Jesuits was not lack of talented priests
to send to the Imperial Court but who to send: he had a
large pool of exceptionally capable priests to choose from.
The flower of Europe’s youth had responded to Ignatius’s
call. There was the Italian Matteo Ricci, who was later to
distinguish himself at the court of Wan Li, Emperor of
China. There was the Swiss Pietro Berno, from Ascona,
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who was to be slain by Hindus in Cuncolim, Salcete,
Goa, a few years later. There was the Englishman
Thomas Stevens, scholar of Winchester and later of New
College, Oxford. He was the first European to study
Canarese scientifically and publish grammars of that
language and of Hindustani. The pool of available talent
was deep indeed. However, the man chosen to be the
leader of the first mission to the court of Akbar was the
thirty-year-old Italian nobleman, Rudolph Aquaviva, son
of the Duke of Atria. To accompany him were the
Spaniard Father Antoine de Monserrat and the Persian
Father Frangois Henriques. The latter was a
Mohammedan convert from Ormuz, a man of great piety
who, though of slight education, knew Persian fluently.

This first mission set out from Goa early in November
17, 1579, in the company of the Portuguese ambassador
and his interpreter. The Imperial court was now at
Fatehpur Sikri. The city of Delhi had formerly been the
residence of the Mughal kings, but Akbar decided to
make his abode at the city of Agra. However, when two
of his children died there he ordered another city of great
beauty to be built. This was Fatehpur Sikri (The Poem in
Stone) which was commenced in 1569 as a memorial to
his victory over the Pathans. He chose this spot for his
‘City of Victory’ because it had been the abode of a saint
(Hoghee Mundee) who had promised him the birth of a
son.

After twenty days the party arrived at Surat, then one
of the most important towns in India. The group then
headed north-east to avoid crossing the Great Indian
(Thar) Desert. They crossed the Tapti and the Narmada
rivers. They passed through Khandesh and Ujjain, a
town no larger than Daman. From here they entered a
mountain range where they were in peril from the
harassment of bandits and robbers. They emerged into
vast plains covered with fields of poppy and flax. At
Sarangpore they were able to say Mass and then turmed
eastwards through rich plains of sugar-cane plantations
till they reached Sirong on 15th February.

At Narwar Father Monserrat fell ill and the party was
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delayed. Then on to Gwalior and finally Fatehpur Sikri
which they reached on 28th February 1580, a journey of
over three months, one beset with many dangers and
difficulties. Fatehpur Sikri was then arising like some
enchanted city, in all its splendour, with its mosques
and its palaces, glorious even today in their ruins. These
Jesuits were the first, and, with the exception of an
English traveller named Ralph Fitch, the only Europeans
to visit northern India in the sixteenth century.

The mission was received well by the great conqueror.
The Emperor was seated cross-legged, on a throne
covered with a velvet cushion fringed with gold. He had a
turban of Hindu form on his head, adorned with a
fortune of rare gems. He wore a robe of cloth of gold, a
great brooch on his breast. Instead of Muslim trousers
he wore the Hindu dhoti, of the finest and most delicate
silk, falling to his heels, and there gathered in by
bangles covered with pearls.

The Fathers paid their respects and presented the
Emperor with their presents — among them etchings of
Saint Margaret and of Saint Catherine of Sienna, still
extant in a Mughal album.

The Fathers were entertained far into the night.
Before taking their leave a large quantity of gold and
silver was brought to be presented to them. The Fathers
thanked the Emperor very respectfully but courteously
explained that their calling forbade them to possess any
riches. The King was much impressed by the refusal of
this money and for a long time spoke of nothing else
with his courtiers.

The trio were immediately plunged into the religious
debates. Gascoigne remarks (p.100) “with the courage of
men whose sights were officially set on martyrdom they
proceeded to lay into Islam with such vehemence that
Akbar finally had to take them aside and advise caution.”

Akbar always treated these ‘Nazarene sages’ as they
came to be called, with the greatest courtesy; he liked
them to sit near him, and would often converse privately
with them. He sent food from the royal table to them,
and when Father Monserrat became ill he visited him. He



30 In Search of Cathay

0k
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Etchings of Saint Margaret and of Saint Cathe
presented to Akbar
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came to see the crib which they had built for their first
Christmas at Fatehpur Sikri; when he entered their
chapel he always removed his turban. He even took in
good part the Jesuits’ chiding him for his many wives.
He let Father Monserrat become tutor to his son Murad,
then aged eleven.

The King was so taken with the learning and
behaviour of the priests that the next year, 1581, Father
Monserrat was asked to accompany Akbar on his
conquest of Kabul.

At first the missionaries were much encouraged by
the interest and respect paid to their learning by the
Emperor. But it eventually became clear that Akbar was
keen on establishing a religion of his own. In 1583 the
Jesuits, recognising that their hope of perhaps converting
the Emperor was not likely to be realised, returned to
Goa. However, their learning, as also their life-style, had
made a great impression on the King. The saintliness of
their lives, their singleness of purpose, their fearless
devotion, were qualities which had always commanded
great admiration in India. It was these qualities which
were to win the heart of Akbar and the respect of his
subjects, whether Muslim or Hindu.

Not surprisingly Akbar asked for a second mission by
the Fathers. In 1590, Leon Grimon, a Greek sub-deacon
returning to his home through Mughal territory, carried
this request for a second mission from Akbar to the
authorities in Goa. The following year three Jesuits set
out from Goa and finally reached Lahore. (After his
conquest of the Kingdom of Lahore, Akbar made its
capital city, Lahore, his usual residence.) The choice of
Fatehpur Sikri had been an unfortunate one since the
ground in that region was brittle and hollow: the
reservoirs on which the city depended soon cracked and
their water escaped. The drinking water became brackish
and corrosive, resulting in much mortality. So within fifty
or sixty years of being built the ‘City of Victory’ was a
waterless waste, a dead city.

(This time Rudolph Aquaviva was not one of the
deputation to Akbar's court. On his return to Goa he had
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This building according to Muslim trad
Jesuit Residence at Fatehpur Sikri.

Courtesy : Archaeological Survey of India
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been put in charge of a mission station in Salcete. But
soon after, in 1583, Aquaviva and Father Pietro Berno,
the first Swiss Jesuit, along with some other members of
the order, were murdered by a Hindu mob.)

At the time the Mughal King was much attracted to
the Christian religion. As well as the philosophical appeal
of its message the Christian religion had other
attractions such as the licence it afforded for the use of
alcohol and for eating the flesh of all kinds of animals:
the pig and the cow, the former prohibited to Muslims,
the latter to Hindus, were not anathema. On the other
hand it presented many difficulties for Akbar, too. It
would - mean giving up his harem of one hundred
concubines. There were some difficulties with certain
dogmas, as well. The doctrine of the Incarnation he could
not fathom: that a God should send his son to earth to
live in poverty and die an excruciating death on a
wooden gibbet were beyond him. He once remarked
“explain the Incarnation to me and [ will become a
Christian though it cost me my Kingdom.”

The cross and poverty were incompatible with a great
Emperor’s life-style of pomp and power and wealth even
though his teachers explained his humility was to
conquer the world's pride. He regarded a king as ‘a
shadow of God’ and came to believe that, as such, he
was the actual representative of God on earth.

This belief became the cornerstone of his new religion
— the Din-i-llahi — which contained valuable
constituents of all other religions. The Din-i-Illahi of Akbar
was a theism broad enough and simple enough to
include everything and signify nothing. It was based on a
vague and mystic liberalism. Adoration was to be
addressed to the sun as an emblem of the Creator. Faith
was to be found not in idols and incredible gods like
Krishna and Rama and Sita and Shiva and Kali nor in
the elephant-headed god, Ganapathy, who wrote down
the epic Mahabharata using his broken tusk for a quill,
but in mankind itself. The practical purpose of the new
religion was to unify the Empire and purify it from
Saktism and Thuggee, from worship of the Female



36 In Search of Cathay

Principle, Kali, the goddess of Birth and Death, in whose
name religious orgies were practised with the frequent
accompaniment of human sacrifices. As Marco Polo
reported some two hundred years earlier, these included
“the gruesome spectacle of fanatics mutilating themselves
in public and finally cutting off their own heads out of
devotion to their God.”

Akbar himself did not seem to know what he
believed. What was in his head Kudhar billahi (‘God alone
knows’) as one of the Fathers reported back. The only
decided religious conviction Akbar had was his rejection
of Islam. At the same time he seems never to have lost a
certain hankering after Christianity or ceased to display
an affectionate reverence for the Christian emblems
which his Jesuit teachers gave him.

When hopes of the Emperor's conversion began to
subside the Superior of the Jesuits again recalled the
three Fathers, who were needed for the important task of
evangelisation elsewhere. Maybe the conversion of many
was more important than that of one, no matter how
important.

In 1594 Akbar sent another ambassador to Goa
requesting, for the third time, that Fathers be sent to
instruct him, as he expressed it, in the Divine Law. In a
letter to the Portuguese Viceroy of India he repeated the
request with so much vehemence that the Viceroy asked
the Provincial of the Jesuits to comply with the request
forthwith. At first the Provincial, who had already seen
two Missions go and return without accomplishing
anything, was not in favour of yet another mission.
However, recognising the importance the Superior
General attached to having some Fathers always at the
court of so great a monarch, and also for the sake of
Christians living in Lahore, the Provincial agreed and a
third Mission was despatched.



Chapter 4

A Third Mission To The
Court Of Akbar

It was on December 3rd, 1594, by coincide..ce the
feast day of Saint Francis Xavier, that the third mission
to Akbar’'s court in Lahore set out from Goa. At the head
of the mission was Father Jerome Xavier — a nephew of
the great Francis Xavier who was fluent in Persian, the
language of the Mughal courts and the language of
commerce in Central Asia. He was a man about the
same age as the Emperor. He had joined the Society of
Jesus twenty-six years earlier and had spent most of his
service in India, first as Rector at Bassein, then at
Cochin and finally at Goa. The other Jesuits were Father
Emmanuel Pinheiro and Brother Bento de Goes. Also in
the party was the Armenian guide and interpreter,
Dominic Perez, who had accompanied Acquaviva's first
mission to the court of Akbar.

Golden Goa was the capital of Portuguese Asia and
the principal city of the Portuguese in India. It stood on
an island, fifteen miles long and ten wide, separated from
the mainland by the river Mandovi. The island was
fertile, well watered and full of trees.

The party of four set off from St. Paul's College, the
Jesuit school in the city. The college of 450 Christian
and pagan pupils had been founded by Francis Xavier to
give India its own native clergy. The college contained
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Hindus, Muslims, Malays, Kaffirs, Ethiopians, Sinhalese,
Japanese and Chinese, some the sons of princes and
others boys purchased for a few silver crowns in the
slave market at Bassein. By now there were barely a
dozen priests at the college; the evil climate had taken its
toll of the Europeans, many of whom had died in the
prime of life.

They headed for the port, where several ships rode at
anchor. The masts of the carracks stood above the palm
trees. They would be loading for the Far East silver,
wines, red scarlet cloth, glass and crystal ware, clocks
and jewellery. Others returning from Japan and Malaya
would be wunloading gold and tin, quicksilver and
porcelain, gilded woodwork, cabinets inlaid with ivory,
mother-of-pearl and precious stones, silk, musk and
civet, hard white sugar, wax and honey, macaws, parrots
and parakeets in cages. Merchants and traders of all
nations gathered in Goa, selling and bartering their
merchandise.

The four made their way past the vice-regal Lodge,
built in the style of the Portuguese-Moorish architecture.
Opposite the viceroy's palace was where the slave market
was held. Here boys and girls of two continents were sold
for a trifle to the common soldiery, strutting about with
their muskets and pikes. They passed the typical
Portuguese two-storeyed, whitewashed laterite houses,
with their tiled roofs, each proudly displaying its own
orchard and garden with exotic flowers and fruit-trees.
On the verandahs, but more often behind shutters, could
be seen the half-caste women, fanning themselves,
mistresses of the Portuguese administrators and civil
servants. No Portuguese woman of self-respect, except an
occasional governor’'s wife, privileged and protected by a
large retinue of servants, would endure the long and
dangerous journey out to the East. The men, fired by
tropical heat, found little difficulty in crossing white with
black.

Every street had its own market, making the colony
one large bazaar or emporium. Barrows heaped with
mangoes, pineapples, jackfruit, lychees, guavas, with
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crabs, crayfish, mussels, oysters, shrimps, shad and
sole, weaved their way in and out of each other's way. At
the cross-roads vendors sold all manner of goods from all

corners of the world — gold chains, precious stones,
pearls, rings, spices such as cardamom, cinnamon,
cloves, pepper, gums — to richly dressed Portuguese

merchants and soldiers who paraded the town with their
slaves. Each square or crossing had its church,
monastery or convent. Brown-cowled, sandalled
Franciscan and Dominicans and black-soutaned Jesuits
bustled along the dusty streets, tiny cogs in an
archdiocese which extended from Mozambique in Africa
to Japan in the Far East. The Franciscan and Dominican
missionaries had begun their work in the Indian Mission
in the fourteenth century. The four Missionaries dodged
in and out of the people and houses and palanquins and
carriages that thronged the main market place. The sight
of topless women was no longer a novelty. Both men and
women went about their business almost naked, wearing
only a piece of cloth, a lungee, that covered from navel to
knee. Brahmins held in very high esteem by the local
Hindus, wandered among the people; thin and wizened
yogis, their long black hair trailing down their backs,
held in equally high regard, sat here and there,
cross-legged, Buddha-like, in oriental contemplation.
Musalmans were there, too, dressed in costly garments.
The Portuguese administrators, the fidalgos, resplendent
in taffeta and satin, hands on their swords, paraded like
the conquerors they were under tasselled parasols borne
by servants. They passed through the southern gate into
the part of the city where the poorer people lived, and
also Africans from the West Coast of Africa and
Indonesian traders. They reached the low wall encircling
the city. The cripple, who, by way of compensation, had
the job of warder on the gate, unrolled himself from his
mat and salaamed. He was obviously no stranger to the
rank reeds people smoked to alleviate their unhappy lot
in life. His job was to print a mark on the arm of natives
wishing to visit the mainland as entry to the island was
carefully regulated.
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The party set off from Goa in a ship bound for the
port of Daman, well to the north of present-day Bombay.
Along the way they had to keep a wary eye on the look
out for the numerous pirate ships that plagued the
Malabar coast. From Daman they sailed to Surat. At the
bar at Surat five Portuguese frigates rode anchor. The
four did not stay long in the city, enclosed with a
massive ditch and fenced in with thick hedges. From
Surat they sailed north to the Kingdom of Cambay.

It was Christmas when they approached Cambay, the
chief sea port of Gujarat and one of the busiest trading
centres in the East. Merchandise from all over India —
fine cloth, indigo from nearby Baroda, drugs of all kinds
— spikenard, turbith (Indian jalap), gumlac, myrrh,
kebals, costus (the root from which joss-sticks are made)
— was brought to Cambay where it would be loaded on
to Portuguese ships for Goa. Nearly two hundred
Portuguese ships rode anchor there. A small boat
brought out the pilot who navigated their ship safely
through the treacherous shallows and sand-banks.
Crossing the bay proved hazardous because of the great
bore or tidal waves which took the lives of many
mariners in small boats.

Cambay was a small fortified town, encompassed
with very strong brick walls. The town could be defended
street by street. At the end of each street stood a
well-guarded gate. In time of battle the enemy would be
trapped in a street, between gates, and be entirely
exposed to arrows and spears from the buildings
overlooking the street. While they were there the four
were also bombarded by missiles, not from the
overlooking houses — but by tiles hurled by monkeys,
showing their white teeth as if grinning, who seemed to
have the run of the place. These were sacred monkeys,
confident in the age-old knowledge that no one dared
touch them. There were monkeys everywhere, chattering
and screaming, and one of their pastimes was to perch
on the roofs of buildings, remove the tiles and then hurl
them down at passers-by.

They stayed three weeks in Cambay. Their departure
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was delayed by the arrival of Sultan Murad, the second
son of Akbar, who was advancing on the Deccan
sultanates on behalf of his father with a large army of
fifty thousand men.

At the time Prince Murad had only four or five
thousand horse with him, but a huge army had preceded
him consisting of twenty thousand horse, four hundred
elephants, seven hundred camels, fifty dromedaries, four
thousand bullocks, fifteen large and four small pieces of
cannon, with some culverins and falconets. The
surrounding countryside was blanketed with their
encampments and tents.

One night the party of four were awakened with a
loud banging on the door of the serai in which they were
staying. It was well past midnight. A messenger said they
must proceed to the Sultan’s presence immediately. A
summons so late in the night could only signal trouble.
The vast plain was dotted with the twinkling lights of the
Prince’s vast encampment. A kokila bird sang its single,
monotonous, inexpressive note, silenced every now and
again by the baying of jackal and hyena. The full moon,
true to Indian poetic notions, seemed to spread coolness
with its bright light. Across the red plain a violet light lay
flatly like a frog, blurring the silhouettes of the tents. It
was turning to dawn when they reached the Prince’s
camp, the pale moonlight yielding to the magenta glow of
morning. The Prince, dressed in full durbar uniform, was
standing near an elevated pavilion where all could see
him. All the Sultan’s captains were assembled about
him, standing, like so many statues, with their eyes fixed
on the Prince, to make their morning salutation to their
General. After a while the Prince entered his pavilion
which was placed in the centre of a specially prepared
mound, resembling a rampart. It was open on all sides
and contained a small couch. Here he received the four
foreigners. They bowed their heads before the Prince in
salutation. The time had come. Were they, like some of
their colleagues before them, to be asked to profess the
Kalimah, to deny their faith in favour of that of Islam?
The Kalimah is the Mohammedan confession of faith: ‘la
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ilaha illulahu Muhammad-ur-rasal ullah’ ‘There is no God,
except the one God, and Muhammed is the prophet sent
by God'. They had no illusions as to the fate that awaited
those who would not accept the Kalimah. In only the few
generations since the Society had been founded the list
of Jesuit martyrs had grown steadily. Apart from
Rudolph Acquaviva, murdered in Salcete, there were
Georji Maronite, Ignace Azevedo, Pierre Correa, Anton
Criminali, Alphonso de Castro, Silveira.

To their surprise the Prince asked seemingly trifling
questions about Portugal: Did it get snow and ice? Did
bears and other wild animals inhabit the country? Were
falcons and hawks used in the chase? The Prince turned
to his captains: “So they have such things as these in
Portugal.” To show their gratitude at being included in
this conversation the captains placed the palm of their
hands first on the ground and then on their heads.

The son of the Great Mughal then advanced to a
small mound of earth from which he mounted an
elephant and then from this sprang on to an even larger
animal, its towering hugeness increased in magnitude by
the ‘howdah’, an enclosed seat or platform, on its back.

By now the relentless brightness of day had outshone
the saffron twilight of dawn. On their return to their
humble serai the foreigners received another surprise.
Three carts and six bullocks had been sent by the Prince
for their luggage, along with horses for them to ride.
Knowing that the Fathers would not accept any money
the Prince had ordered that fifteen hundred manudes
(silver coins) be given to the Armenian interpreter to pay
for lodgings on the way.

They began the long journey inland from Cambay
which would take them across the Great Indian (Thar)
Desert to Lahore. They passed through barbaric little
states where a Hindu might kill an Untouchable and go
unpunished on the plea that he had been defiled by the
man’s shadow. Attacks by brigands and robbers was an
ever-present hazard. To guard against such attacks
people would only travel in cafilas or caravans,
sometimes consisting of as many as two or three
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thousand persons. Travelling alone was tantamount to
suicide.

The captain in charge of the caravan gave the order
to start. A loud drum was beaten three times. This was
the signal for all tents to be folded up. On a second
signal on the drums the four hundred camels and
hundred carts were loaded up. The hundred or more
horses would be mounted. A third beating on the drum
heralded the caravan to move forward. Following those
on horse were the many more who could not afford the
luxury of horses and so followed on foot.

Ahead lay a vast sub-continent of burning heat and
barren sky. A yellow haze filled the air as thousands of
tramping feet kicked up the ochre dust.

Ordinarily the caravan would stop at night for rest.
But sometimes when entering bandit-infested territory
the caravan would travel even at night in the hope of
passing through unseen and unmolested. When
travelling by night, in order that the people did not
become separated from the main caravan, the drummers
would lead the way, beating their drums continuously.
The drummers would also give the signal when a halt
was to be made. Halts were made in places where it was
known wells had been dug. Such wells were usually two
hundred or more feet deep and the water was raised by
the bullocks which drew the carts. Very often the water
was scarce and even when chanced upon was salty and
brackish even though they were a long way from the sea;
or there would be dead frogs and toads in the water.

In the distance they could see the massive stone
walls, with imposing turrets and battlements, which
guarded the city of Ahmedabad, the capital of Gujarat.
The Viceroy of the Mogul Emperor made his abode in the
castle here. At one hour’s notice he could muster six
thousand horse. The city was built on a plain beside the
river. At the heavily guarded gate they had to show their
papers before proceeding. It was now the middle of
March. The city consisted of fine buildings and gardens,
the streets were large and well-paved. Merchants of every
kind abounded within the city, selling everything
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imaginable, from cloth of gold to silver tissue, fine velvets
and taffetas, herbs and drugs and divers medicaments.
The embroidery work with gold and silver, the carvings,
the inlaid work, were exquisite.

In Ahmedabad they heard about a great Saint who
was working great wonders in the city. The Fathers went
to see for themselves. In the middle of the square of the
city was the Saint or yogi surrounded by an expectant,
inquisitive throng. He was clad not even with a loin cloth
to cover his privy parts. His body was smeared with
ox-dung, first burnt and then ground into powder. For
anyone who stepped forward the sadhu (holy man)
smeared the ground ox-dung on his forehead. His
finger-nails were long, almost like birds’ claws. At night
he would sleep on the bare ground, with nothing at all
either above or below him. Marco Polo had given an
interesting account of these ‘yogis':

“When others ask them why they go about naked, and why
they feel no shame in showing their privy parts, they answer:
‘We go about naked, because we will have nothing belonging
to this world, for we came into this world without clothes, and
naked. And the reason why we are not ashamed of showing
our privy parts, is this: we commit no carnal sin with them,
and so we feel no more ashamed of showing them, than you
may feel when you show your hands or your face or any
other part of your body with which you commit no carnal sin.
But, as you have used your privy parts for sin and lechery, so
you keep them hidden, and feel ashamed of them. As for us,
who commit no such sin with them, we feel no more shame
at showing them, than at showing our backs.”

Some days later a crowd gathered again to see the
‘yogi’, showing less of the indifferent calm of before. This
time it was to see the ‘yogi’ publicly flogged. Prince
Murad had summoned the ‘yogi’ to his court but the
arrogant ‘yogi' had contemptuously told those who had
come to fetch him that the Prince could come and see
him if he chose, since ‘his holiness well merited that'.

This flogging and subsequent banishment was the
penalty for his conceit.
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The caravan rested for some days in Ahmedabad. The
caravan train left Ahmedabad on 19th March and,
averaging about twelve miles a day, reached the city of
Pattan five days later. From Pattan they went on to
Udaipur and then on to Jodhpur. There was nothing to
see. The country was full only of desert sand, dacoits,
and lions and tigers. The heat increased day by day and
by now was unbearable. From Jodhpur to Bikaner they
passed through true desert and dry sandy tracts where
neither springs nor streams were to be found, only sand
everywhere which was often lifted up into the air,
enveloping everything and sometimes even burying
people and animals completely. They went hungry
because no food was procurable in the desert. But far
worse was thirst, burning thirst. And the many mirages
only tantalised and aggravated them more. The towns
they passed through were ruins; here and there only
mosques remained.

The four travellers had hoped to proceed to Multan in
the Sind, but were prevented from so doing because the
governor of the province was still observing the fast of
Ramadan, which not only meant that he had to fast from
dawn to sunset throughout the entire month but he also
had to abstain from attending to any other matters.
Multan, though not very large, was an important halting
place for the caravans that carried goods and
merchandise between Persia and other distant kingdoms
of the West and the Mughal Empire. It was also an
important gateway to the Kingdom of Kandahar.

Finally, on the 5th of May 1595 they reached the
royal city of Lahore, where the Great Mogul Akbar
resided, having set out from Goa on 3rd December the
previous year. The journey which was normally of two to
three months' duration, had taken them five months.
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The King's Palace at Lahore at the end of the sixteenth century



Chapter S

The Durbar (Court)

The three Jesuits joined the brown tide of humanity
that was heading north towards the Ravi as it curled its
way, like some meandering cobra crossing a maidan
path, on its journey to join up with the Indus. It was on
the banks of the Ravi that the castle of the King's Palace
stood. The well-off and the destitute, beggars and
cripples, seemingly everyone in Lahore, was making his
way to the palace to see what he could of the tamasha or
spectacle. Elephants and camels, horses and donkeys,
with the occasional groaning ox-cart, all added to the
hundreds of feet raising the dust off the powdery roads.
Four splendidly uniformed footmen cleared a way for
their master. Behind the footmen were six others bearing
an ornately decorated palanquin on their shoulders. An
omrah (amir), one of the nobles of the Empire, leaned
back against a cushion of brocade, while chewing betel-
nut with the calm indifference of a sacred cow for the
double purpose of sweetening his breath and reddening
his lips. On one side of the palanquin a servant carried a
spittoon of silver; on the other side a servant fanned the
noble lord with a peacock’s tail, while another brushed
away the ubiquitous flies.

The towers and crenellated battlements of the castle
came into view, all decorated with flags and standards of
green silk. Boats carrying merchandise to Tatta in Sind
glided down the silvery-grey river, the trees and buildings
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reflected in the phosphorescent sheen. The dusty road
gave way to a wide, paved, highway. Tall, brick buildings,
the home of well-to-do Banias, became more frequent.
The intricately carved doors were constructed well above
the ground and could only be reached by a series of six
or seven steep steps. This provided not only security but
also prevented passers-by looking in. The procession of
nobles and important personages slowed as it
approached one of the twelve gates in the imposing wall
that circled the palace.

Father Jerome Xavier, the leader of the group of
three, dug deep into his soutane and pulled out a piece
of parchment. The Kotwal, the chief officer of the palace
guard, unfurled the firman (or mandate) and carefully
scrutinised the contents. He handed back the document
and waved the three forward.

A large and beautiful courtyard marked the entrance
to the palace. Four thousand horses, all caparisoned
with rich trappings of embroidered silk, formed His
Imperial Majesty’s guard. The horsemen wore costly
uniforms; they held in their hands gilded and painted
buckled shields and bows and arrows, and from their
sashes hung curved and sharp scimitars, garnished,
some with gold, some with silver, and others with ruddy
gilded copper. Also suspended from their sashes, on the
side opposite to their scimitars, were rich and
curiously-wrought quivers filled with sharp feathered
darts. This cavalry was drawn up in two rows, forming
an awe-inspiring avenue of might and colour.

At the end of this avenue of cavalry began another,
which, though not so long, displayed even more majesty
and power. It consisted of six hundred elephants placed
in two lines, all armed and castled in the same manner
as when they entered into battle, with bells of gilt copper
on their necks, and their wooden forts, or howdahs,
varnished black, adorned with metal plates of the same
material, on their backs. On their trunks they had sharp
cutlasses, the width of a man's arm. Standards of
various silks and colours which decorated the tops of the
howdahs fluttered in the mild breeze. This squadron of
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warlike elephants extended up to another courtyard
where a further avenue was formed by one hundred
elephants, covered with gay and silver-embroidered
cloths decorated with a variety of silken flowers. These
elephants had rich seats of gold and silver, some covered
with litters, some uncovered. This elephantine array was
surrounded by two thousand splendid young armed
soldiers.

From the courtyard the three ascended by a wide
staircase to a very large hall, all painted from its high
roof to the floor with pictures of battles, of the chase and
hunting scenes. Amongst the collection they were
surprised to see a painting of the Nativity and the
painting Ecce Homo.

They entered a hall full of eunuchs most richly
apparelled in various cloths of linen and gold - and
silver-embroidered silk. With wands of gold an-: silver
embroidered silk they ushered along the nobles and
dignitaries. At the entrance to a long gallery stood a
venerable, hoary old man, whose stick of gold in his
hand identified him as Captain of the eunuch
door-keepers and of the two hundred Usbegs who, with
short lances and darts in their hands, were drawn up
along the gallery. The gallery led to a wide beautiful
gateway adorning a grand and majestic triumphal arch.
This arch was built over four silver columns covered with
branches and laced with foliage and flowers. The bases
of the columns consisted of silvered and gilt pedestals
whose empty interiors contained small pans and braziers
in which divers kinds of most delicate perfumes
composed of different concoctions of amber, lignum
aloes, and civet. These mixed perfumes then escaped
through orifices in the columns and filled the adjoining
halls with an exquisite fragrance.

The three could now see inside the magnificent
Divan-i-khas (Hall of Private Audience). In the centre
stood a throne, raised some feet off the ground,
resembling a couch and bedecked with gold inlay and
enriched with diamonds from Vijayanagar, pink rubies,
green emeralds, blue sapphires and pearls from the
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Indian Ocean and the Persian Gulf set in gold. Below the
throne was a space surrounded by balustrades covered
in plates of gold and silver. The awnings covering this
space were of red velvet embroidered with gold. At the
four corners of this space the Emperor’'s four Secretaries
of State stood. Gathered round the balustrades were
nobles and omrahs and the eunuchs, men of great
authority, who managed everything for the King.
Suspended from the quadrangular-shaped canopy of the
throne were a sword, a mace, a round shield, a bow and
a quiver with arrows, all adorned with the most dazzling
jewellery. The underside of the canopy was festooned
with diamonds and pearls, with a fringe of pearls all
round. Above the canopy was a peacock with open tail
made of blue sapphires and other coloured stones; the
body was of gold inlaid with precious stones, a large
ruby adorning the breast, from which hung a large
pear-shaped pearl. On either side of the peacock was a
large bouquet consisting of many kinds of flowers made
of gold inlaid with precious stone. Four feet from the
throne were two large umbrellas, on either side, the
sticks of which were covered with diamonds, rubies and
pearls to a height of seven feet or more. The umbrellas
were of red velvet and embroidered and fringed all round
with pearls.

The Mir-i-Arz, the officer who presented people at
court, was resplendently attired in a white tunic which
folded across his front and which reached down to below
his knees, below which could be seen his tight-fitting
breeches. Into the wide silk sash which girdled his waist
was stuck a heavily jewelled dagger. Jewel ear-rings
flanked his lean face, above which rested a large turban.
He beckoned the three men forward. It was the
Mir-i-Arz’s duty to examine the credentials of all persons
being presented and, if they were foreigners, to instruct
them how to salute the King by kissing his feet and how
to comport themselves in his presence. The three
Europeans advanced till the outstretched hand of the
Mir-i-Arz halted further approach. They waited at the
entrance to the court.
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They were grateful for the punkah-wallah who
provided the cool air in the room. The large mats of
khas-khas grass, saturated with water, which swung
rhythmically from side to side overhead, cooled the
atmosphere as the water evaporated. The trumpeting of
elephants stabled in some cavern below the palace broke
the silence of the place. The reverberations of a cannon
shot rumbled in over the city’s maidans. The Mir-i-Arz
cast a confirmatory look at the water-clock.

The piercing blasts of trumpets, almost drowning the
plaintive notes of the enormous hautboys, over nine feet
long, the beating of kettle-drums and the clashing of
brass and iron cymbals, over a yard in diameter,
heralded the approach of Jalalludin Akbar, the great
Mogul Emperor.

Using four steps specially placed there the Emperor
ascended the throne. At the Emperor's back lay a large,
round, heavily jewelled cushion or bolster; on either side
were two flat, but equally heavily bejewelled cushions.
Behind the King a great noble stood guard. Also
guarding the royal personage were the omrahs, nobles
and grandees of the Kingdom, along with the princes of
the blood royal, who all considered it a great honour to
guard their king. None of the omrahs and nobles dared
lift his head and gaze too high. A beautiful and graceful
eunuch boy appeared, elegantly dressed in white satin
ornamented with purple embroidery, who, kneeling with
much ceremony, presented the King with a costly and
rare casket of gold filled with biras (bundles) of betel-leaf
and areca nut. Other eunuchs kept away the numerous
flies with gaily decorated fans and fly whisks made from
the hair of certain black and white bulls which have tails
reaching to their feet. The tail hair is very fine and light
as a feather and is valued at its weight in silver. It is
from this hair only that fans were made for the service of
kings and idols. The cavalry also carried the hair at the
head of their lances as a mark of high nobility. A king,
come to pay his tribute, entered the hall and from a long
way off bowed himself down before the Great Mogul,
touching the ground with his hands and head. Then,
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advancing little by little, he made the same reverential
gesture several times. When he had come near to the
King he was searched all over, to see if he carried
weapons, after which he advanced and touched the feet
of His Majesty, who seemed to show no particular sign of
his goodwill beyond placing his hand on his vassal's
neck. This lack of affection was understandable since
this king was the now penitent Viceroy of Kandahar who
had rebelled against the Mughal Emperor. Normally the
punishment for such a crime would have been death.

It was the custom never to appear empty-handed
before His Majesty. As part of his tribute the vassal
presented to Akbar a pair of daggers with their sheaths
and girdles of fine gold covered with precious stones of
great value, such as rubies and garnets; a pair of large
vials, all of gold and an even larger one of the same
metal. In addition there was a horse, splendidly
furnished, its harness covered in precious stones set in
gold, and another horse in arrow-proof armour. Besides
this there were another one hundred and fifty horses, ten
mares, and fifty camels liveried in green and crimson
velvet. Lastly came four rare, precious carpets.

Other presents, beyond the wildest imagination —
and purse — of the three Europeans were made to the
Emperor. His son, Sultan Murad, who was then in
Gujarat (and was later to die of drink), sent a present of
fifty elephants along with a chariot of gold and another
of silver. The viceroy of the King's dominions in Bengal
sent three hundred elephants.

What would the Emperor do when he saw the modest
present the three foreigners had to offer?

Presently the Mir-i-Arz turned towards the Divan and
announced the three Europeans to one of the Secretaries
of State. The Secretary of State repeated the
announcement to the Emperor, who seemed not to hear
him. After some considerable time the great Emperor,
Akbar, lifted his eyes and trained them on the Mir-i-Arz.
The Mtr-l-_Arz in turn signalled the three towards the
throne.

The -Emperor was dressed in the most magnificent
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attire. His tunic, which reached to his knees, was of
white delicately flowered satin, interwoven with solid gold
embroidery of leaves and flowers of the finest texture. His
breeches reached his heels. How shabby the three
Europeans looked by comparison in their cheap, black
soutanes of cotton. On his head the Emperor wore a
turban of gold cloth, from which fanned a plume whose
base consisted of large diamonds and an oriental topaz
which dazzled like the sun. On his brow he wore several
rows of pearls and precious stones. A necklace of
immense pearls hung from the King's neck. At his side,
within reach, lay his sword and jewelled sword-belt
which never left his company.

The Emperor was a bronzed, handsome man of about
fifty-five years of age. He was strongly built — not
surprising in view of his life-long pursuit of martial and
other manly arts. At the age of ten he was beside his
father in battle and given leadership of his dead uncle
Hindal's troops; at twelve he was with the advance guard
during the victory at Sirkind. As a boy he had terrified
everyone by his passion for riding fierce camels; he loved
nothing more than to be on top of a male elephant
fighting another. Descended from Tamerlain, the great
Mongol King, Akbar was more than half a Mongol, and
the Mongols are a people of prodigious vitality. In his
youth he had been wild and reckless; he drank to excess
and often wantonly played with death. Once on his way
back from Malwa he faced a tigress on foot and killed it
with his sword. On another occasion he terrified his
followers by driving his elephant through the wall of a
house where armed bandits were hiding, receiving five
arrows on his shield as he approached. He bore his years
extremely well.

The King's head was inclined slightly to the right.
Large eyes seemed to smile out of the narrow openings
that betrayed their Tartar origin. One could not but
notice the broad forehead. Unlike many of the men of his
time he was clean-shaven, except for a neatly-trimmed
moustache.

The three men saluted the royal personage with the
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taslim, bowing and greeting the King with their right
hand, accompanied with the words as-salam alaikum
(peace be upon you), to which the reply came
wa-alaikum as-salam (‘and on you also be peace’).

Father Jerome presented his gift to one of the
Secretaries of State, who then showed it to the Emperor.
The King stared long, very long, at the gift — a painting
of the Madonna. Was His Majesty displeased with the gift
which seemed so trifling compared with the gifts
presented by the other nobles and grand personages —
diamonds, rubies, emeralds, pearls, brocades of gold and
silver, rich carpets, and elephants, camels, horses? Was
the gift worthy of the greatest monarch in the East, Lord
of seventy kingdoms, Commander-in-Chief of three
hundred thousand cavalry and twenty thousand fighting
elephants? After an anxious few minutes the faintest
suspicion of approval flickered on the royal face. The gift
was accepted.

Another gift, A Life of Christ, written in Persian by
the leader of the group, was also presented. The King
admired the cover. The book was opened at one or two
pages. The King stared at them. He nodded. The gift was
accepted.

At the end of the presentation of nobles and
dignitaries, along with their magnificent gifts, some of
the Emperor’'s bravest elephants, trained for war, were
brought for his inspection. One of the elephants had a
howdah ready on its back, in case the Emperor wished
to mount. The others were covered in housings of
brocade, with chains of gold and silver about their necks.
Four of the elephants carried the royal standard on their
backs, each standard attached to a hand pike which a
man held erect. In turn each elephant advanced and
when within forty or fifty paces of the throne, saluted His
Majesty by placing its trunk on the ground and then
raising it about its head. On each occasion it trumpeted
aloud. Then, turning its back to the Emperor, one of the
mahouts who was riding it raised the housing so that the
Emperor could see if the animal was in good condition
and had been well fed. Each elephant had its own silken
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cord which was stretched round its body in order to
show whether it had increased in girth since the
previous inspection.

The inspection of the elephants was followed by a
nauch, where some of the prettiest and comeliest young
women of the realm, the kanchanis or dancing girls,
whirled and twisted their supple, lithe bodies before the
King, the while moving their arms and hands in subtly
erotic gestures to the accompaniment of wild and
frenzied music.

Presently the Emperor rose from the throne and
accompanied by some of his eunuchs left by a small door
behind the throne for his harem where at least one
hundred concubines waited to serve him. The eunuchs
were answerable for the safety and honour of the
highest-born and prettiest women in the Empire. The
gladiators and wrestlers, the jugglers and tumblers, the
singers male and female, who had been waiting in the
wings to entertain the King, were not needed that day.
They dispersed in some disappointment. The apes and
monkeys, joined together by string, were led out by their
owner. Their ‘tricks’ before the royal personage would
have to wait another day. The thin turbaned man in a
dhoti put the bamboo pole across his shoulders and
shuffled out, a basket suspended at each end of the pole.
In these he kept his cobras. He would allow these to bite
him and then ‘cure’ the swelling with some powders. But
his ‘cure’ was not needed that day.

Slowly the guests began to disperse. The foreigners
made their exit, passing through the palace gates,
outside which the poverty stricken, the diseased, the
altogether luckless, swarmed, arms outstretched for
alms, and endured their hopeless fate, their lips
constantly pressed against life’s bitter cup.






Chapter 6

Sojourn At Akbar’s Court

The Jesuits were detained at the royal court in
Lahore for several months. They soon found themselves
closely involved in the personal and public life of the
Emperor. They were accorded a privileged position at the
imperial court and were often in close attendance on his
person. At the public assemblies they were assigned
places very near his throne; they accompanied him on
his military campaigns; they educated his children; they
were often the companions of his leisure hours.

Akbar suffered not only from epilepsy but also from
mental depression. To divert his mind from his fits of
brooding melancholy he would undertake long arduous
excursions. He would insist that Father Xavier and
Brother de Goes accompany him. On one occasion Akbar
travelled six hundred miles in eleven days. Fresh horses
would await him at every stage of the journey; the few
who accompanied him were mounted on swift camels.
Akbar was a very brave man. He would sometimes go
alone into jungles and wastes and mountains, without
any bodyguard. He was fond of lonely contemplation. He
once galloped far into the desert to meditate and
deliberately allowed his horse to escape. Such
indiscretions nearly cost him his life on more than one
occasion. He was a fearless warrior. Even at the age of
fifty-four he was foolhardy enough to seize a stag by the
horms one moonlit night. He was knocked to the ground
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and gored in a testicle. When he sought relaxation after
a victory, or when awaiting attack by an enemy, his
usual diversion was to march hither and thither,
enduring considerable fatigue and discomfort, in search
of something to kill.

Hunting the wild animals that abounded in his realm
— lions, tigers, buffaloes, boars, etc. — was a favourite
pastime of the Emperor. He would hunt at least once a
fortnight, mounted on an elephant. Beaters would drive
the animals within musket range of his elephant. To
increase the danger of his life he would often hunt tigers
on horseback. He also used specially trained cheetahs or
hunting leopards. Cheetahs were captured in pits or
wicker cages; within a month or two they could be
trained to obey their keepers, being released to stalk and
kill their prey and then to return after the kill, much like
a falcon. They often wore coats studded with jewels and
were taken to the hunt sitting blindfold on beautiful
carpets. The cheetah would sit on the elephant or horse
behind its master. When a lion or tiger or buck
approached, the cheetah would leap on it, whilst
accompanying bullocks would fix the beast with their
horns and tear it to pieces.

Akbar also insisted that Xavier and Goes join him on
his many amusements and pastimes. Elephants learn
very quickly and the Emperor liked to see elephants
dancing to the tune of musical instruments. Despite
their enormous size, up to fifteen feet, as a rule
elephants are very placid, gentle animals.

But some of Akbar’'s amusements bordered on the
sadistic. From a small window at the end of a long
gallery which overlooked the river Jumna, he would
watch elephants fight in the maidan (open space)
between the palace and the river, a site deliberately
chosen so that the enraged animals could at any time be
driven to the water to cool off. The fighting elephants
would first be supplied with alcohol to increase their
courage. Guided by their mahouts, seated on their necks,
they would charge at each other and then fight with their
tusks and trunks. Despite the care the fighting elephants
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appeared to take to ensure their mahouts did not get
hurt, for the mahouts elephant fighting was a dangerous
pastime. So much so that when the riders mounted their
elephants their wives would break their bracelets and
take off their jewels as a sign that they were already
widows. As a variation he would watch camels or
buffaloes or rams that butted and gored each other to
death with their horns.

On other occasions, after the manner of the ancient
Roman emperors, Akbar would make gladiators fight
before him, or fencers contend with one another till one
had killed the other. The Jesuits incurred the royal
displeasure when they not only refused to observe these
barbaric events but reprimanded the King for
encouraging such inhuman practices.

Near this gallery there was a divan-ichan or hall
where Akbar would detach himself from everyone and
ponder deep on whether a sentence of death should be
carried out. Trials and executions were generally swift.
The executions — hangings, beheading, impaling, killing
with dogs, by elephants, by serpents — were commonly
done in the market place. The King often used elephants
as a means of execution. If the victim was to be
despatched swiftly the elephant would crush the man to
death with its foot. If the unfortunate was to be tortured
first the elephant would slowly break the bones, one by
one. The mahouts, seated atop the elephant’s neck, used
iron hooks to transmit commands to the animals.

This was a country of savage exaggerations where
beauty was more beautiful but also where cruelty was
more cruel. At Chitor, some thirty years earlier, Akbar
had sullied his victory by a massacre of most of the
40,000 peasants who took refuge in the fort.

De Goes, being a soldier like Akbar, soon had the
confidence of the great Mughal King, and was even
invited to give his opinion on matters of state. At one
stage Akbar was contemplating the conquest of the whole
of the vast Deccan plateau of India, to add to his alree.ldy
far-flung Empire. There was one important consideration
that had to be taken into account: the Portuguese had
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some settlements in the Deccan. Goes knew fully the
might and extent of the Mogul armies. But he also knew
these would be ineffective against the smaller but well
armed forces of the Portuguese. The Mogul elephants
and horses and camels would be no match for the
superior fire power of the Portuguese heavy guns and
artillery. Akbar was dissuaded from his venture.

One day in 1597 the sound of shouting and
screaming drew the Jesuits out of their rooms into the
broad sunshine. They looked toward the palace. Clouds
of black smoke, interspersed with spiralling orange and
crimson flames, leapt into the cloudless sky. The royal
household was aflame. Evidently a spark from one of the
royal bedchambers had started the conflagration. Despite
desperate efforts to contain the blaze the flames spread
wildly in every direction. Several days later the blaze was
still defying all attempts to extinguish it. Much of the
royal palace, which was constructed only of wood, was
reduced to ashes and cinders. The King was much
aggrieved at the loss of all his treasures. The fire
consumed everything, including large quantities of
draperies of cloth of gold and silk. The gold, silver and
other precious metals melted in the conflagration and
ran down the streets like streams of lava.

In consequence of this disaster the King at once left
Lahore, his capital, and went to spend the summer in
the Kingdom of Kashmir which he had annexed ten years
earlier. Jerome Xavier and Bento de Goes accompanied
the King on this trip to Kashmir. Father Pinheiro was left
behind.

Accompanied by his chief officers of State — the
Treasurer, the Master of the Eunuchs (who is Steward
and Comptroller of the House), the Secretary, the Master
of Elephants, the Tent-master, and the Keeper of
Wardrobe, the royal party left Lahore with the usual
pomp and ceremony.

The Emperor rode on a throne mounted on the back
of an elephant. Eight elephants marched in front, four
carrying two men each: one, seated on the neck, to guide
the elephant, the other, seated on its back, bearing the
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royal standard attached to a hand pike. The other
elephants, each with a seat (howdah) on its back, carried
members of the royal household. The howdahs rocked
and swayed like ships, in unison with the gait of the
huge animals carrying them. One of these was Prince
Salim, the King's son. The howdahs conveying the
Emperor's women were enclosed. Omrahs on horse-back
provided the bodyguard. Beside the bodyguard of nobles
there were several hundred horsemen and at least six
hundred footmen, each armed with a kind of hand pike.
On the iron blades of the pikes were rockets which,
when ignited, would propel the handpike a distance of
five hundred yards. The Emperor's procession was
followed by four hundred matchlock men, armed with
muskets, and behind these came the cavalry.

The movement of the royal household was an
immense logistical undertaking. Besides the thousands of
men, women and children moving, were the thousands of
elephants, camels, horses, bullocks, required to transport
them and their baggage — tents, utensils, etc. The
women were carried in covered litters on the backs of
elephants or camels, or in covered cradles hung from the
sides of the animals, or in covered palanquins (dhoolies),
all closely guarded by eunuchs.

They set out on 15th May 1597, taking the Pir Panjal
route, the route the Mughal emperors had always taken.
They crossed the Ravi by ferry — a very lengthy and
tiresome business — to the west side of the castle. They
passed the fine mosque built by Sheikh Farid.

The procession covered ten or twelve miles a day,
depending on the state of the roads and the availability
of water. At night the multitudinous throng would come
to a rest. The King’s tents, reared on high poles, and all
painted scarlet, would be pitched in the centre of the
camp, screened by tall red calico and heavily guarded.
Only Mughal kings and princes of royal blood were
allowed to use tents of scarlet colour. The colour blue
(the colour of moumning) was anathema. That colour was
never to be seen or worn in the king’s presence.

They passed Kacha sarai, then Aminabad, then China
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Gakkhar, finally reaching the city of Gujrat. Beyond Gujrat
the crossing of the Chenab river took seemingly ages.

They made even slower progress, heading towards the
lofty Himalaya range ahead. The journey across the
mountains was slow and full of difficulty. Finally they
reached the plain of Kashmir, and the strongly-fortified
city, beside the river Jhelum.

In one of his letters to the Provincial in Goa Xavier
wrote:

“The Kingdom of Kashmir is one of the pleasantest and most
beautiful countries to be found in the whole of India, we may
even say in the East. It is completely surrounded by very high
mountains, which for the greater part of the year are covered
in snow, and all the rest of the Kingdom is a beautiful plain
clothed in verdure, diversified with groves, orchards, gardens,
and well watered by springs and rivers: a very pleasant land
for those who dwell therein. Owing to the mountains, the
climate of the country is somewhat cold, though it is more
temperate than that of the Kingdom of Tibet, which joins
Kashmir on the east. in the month of May, great numbers of
wild duck come from the mountains of Tibet and settle in
huge flocks on the streams which flow near to the town of
Srinagar, the capital of the Kingdom, because of the warmer
climate. About three leagues from the town there is a lake of
sweet water which, though not more than two leagues in
circuit and half a league broad, is so large that large vessels
can float upon it. In the middle there is an artificial island on
which the King has a palace.”

Shortly after writing this Xavier was struck down
with fever which lasted a full two months.

When the summer had come to an end the King set
out on his return journey to Lahore. He requested that
Xavier and Goes should travel with him. But Goes,
younger and more adventurous than his companion,
asked for and received permission to go on ahead of the
King's procession, hoping thus to avoid the boredom of
travelling with the slow-moving court party. He was to
rue his choice.
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On the journey Goes suffered much from cold and
hunger, as well as from the atrocious roads, for they had
to go by rough paths which were often so narrow that
there was room for only a single horseman. They were
obliged therefore to travel very slowly and to stop
frequently. Moreover, the elephant which carried their
goods had great difficulty in climbing the mountains.
Sometimes, feeling insecure on its feet, owing to the load
which it carried, it supported itself with its trunk,
making it serve the purpose of a staff.

The royal party arrived back in Lahore on 13th
November 1597, six months after it had set off.

Goes was pleased to see Father Pinheiro again.
Pinheiro informed him of the great famine that had
occurred in the city due to the failure of the rains.
Families had been forced to even sell their children in
the streets. A great plague added to the misfortune.
Father Pinheiro had evidently not been sitting idle while
his colleagues were away in Kashmir. In September of
that year he had opened a new church at Lahore,
towards the building of which Akbar had contributed 400
rupees. The Governor of Lahore, Qamr-ud-Din, had
attended the opening and to show his pleasure with the
work of the Fathers had released a Chaldean Christian
who had been condemned to death for killing a cow.



Chapler 7

Into Battle With Akbar

Shortly after Akbar returned to Lahore from
Kashmir he was informed that his second son, Prince
Murad, had been slain in the battle for Ahmednagar by
Malik, the King of the Deccan. Actually Prince Murad
died of drink. The ineffectiveness of Akbar’'s army in the
Deccan was due to Murad's drunkenness, a family failing
which Akbar managed to control in himself but which
affected his three sons to the point of dipsomania.
Murad’s condition got so bad that Akbar had to relieve
him of his command. A few days later the Prince died in
a state of advanced delirium tremens. The great Akbar
decided to avenge this death in person. Xavier and Goes
were again asked to accompany the war expedition,
which they did. The King gave orders that they should be
supplied with money, horses, elephants, camels and all
else they needed. Xavier replied that one camel would
suffice for himself and his companion. But he was not
allowed to take less than four.

Before setting out for Agra the King consulted his
astrologers as to a propitious time for embarking on his
punitive expedition. Towards the end of 1598 Akbar and
his army left Lahore for Agra, one hundred leagues south
of Lahore, the Kingdom of the Deccan lying still further
south. The huge army, horse and foot, of a hundred
thousand men and more than a thousand war elephants,
caused panic and alarm amongst the smaller kings of
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the regions as it advanced to Agra. As the King advanced
his vassal princes would add their weight with their own
forces — soldiers, horses, elephants, several thousand
strong, which they were obliged to keep in readiness for
any emergency.

In time of war Akbar recruited his army from all
races of his people — Mohammedan Pathans and
Baluchis, Hindu Rajputs and Gujeratis. Rajput armies
were always at the disposal of the Mughal emperors. The
Rajputs were famed as the greatest warriors in India.
They went into battle drugged with opium to remarkably
good effect. The Afghan warriors also used this. On one
occasion, the Afghans had to give up their war-making
because the season’s harvest of poppies had failed.
Rajputs would fight to the death. In a custom known as
jauhar they would burn their women-folk before facing
death. The Mahrattas, too, were brave fighters. Bengalis
would frighten their children by saying: “If you are not
good a Mahratta will get you.” And there were the Sikhs,
professional fighters, their long black beards neatly
folded into little nets below their chins, their hard
mouths and black eyes impatient for blood. One race
Akbar would not recruit as fighters were the Kashmiris.
Akbar thought little of their courage. This was because
when he attacked Kashmir the King of Kashmir had
surrendered without a fight; even though, because of its
high mountainous geography, with paths so few and
narrow, one man could hold up a whole army. Kashmiris
were employed only as tailors, barbers and cooks. Nor
would Akbar enlist fagirs — those who beg for alms.
There were two kinds of faqirs — the be-tars or ‘fearless’
and the be-qaid or ‘liberated’.

The be-tars were faqirs who begged for alms with a
sharp knife in their hands. They would stand in front of
a shop and begin to shout for alms, pointing to what
they wanted. If the shopkeeper did not oblige the fagir
would cut himself with the knife — on his arms, or legs,
or head — and taking the blood would throw it into the
shop as a sign of his curse. Usually the fagirs asked for
alms at the shops of the baniyas, who were generally
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very timid, and would accede to the fagir's request rather
than see any blood spilt.

This gave Akbar an idea. If these fagirs were prepared
to inflict such wounds on themselves then they would
surely make soldiers who would fight with great spirit
and courage. Accordingly he enlisted four thousand
fagirs as armed horsemen and sent them against the
villagers of Mathura, north of Agra, who were in revolt.
At the very first advance, without waiting for the fighting
to begin, all of them turned tail, and fled as hard as they
could go. On hearing of this cowardly flight, Akbar
ordered them to be summoned, and asked them the
cause. They had not even waited for the enemy, and yet
had such courage that they inflicted wounds on
themselves. Their reply indicated that their inflicting
wounds on themselves was not courage but deceit. They
said: “When we cut our own flesh, we avoia veins,
nerves, and bones; but an enemy wounds without mercy,
and it does not suit us to have our bodies cut about by
the hands of others.”

Akbar had, equally, little reason for engaging the
services of the other kind of fagirs, the be-gaid or
liberated’. These fagirs were very rude in manner, using
great liberty in speech, fearing no one and paying no
respect, whatever his rank, using much abusive language
and scandalous words, or polite sayings, just as it
pleased them. These men would often enter boldly into
the houses of great men, and if the doorkeepers stopped
them from going in, they would apply to the whole family
much abusive language, sparing neither master nor
mistress, nor sons, nor grandchildren, nor ancestors,
coupling their names with the coarsest abuse. In spite of
this the people of the house would generally show no
anger, but secure their departure by soft words, giving
them some alms and begging their pardon. If the fagirs
were allowed entrance, they would march straight to
where the master was and seat themselves close to him,
although dirty, their feet covered with mud, and clad in
filthy rags. Without any deference or civility of speech,
they would take the hookah or tobacco water-pipe out of
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the master’s mouth and place it in their own. With much
respect the master would return thanks for this honour
and secure the man’'s departure by some money. Akbar
had once — only once! — been the butt of such
indignity.

In the distance could be seen a large red sand-stone
fort, crowning the summit of a hill. This was Agra. The
bare rock of the hill fell precipitately into the river
Jumna, a glistening red streak that wound its way
majestically through vast plains of corn and millet.

Nearing Agra a gruesome sight greeted the two
Jesuits. Along the imperial highway a number of grisly
heads grimaced from the wooden pedestals placed by the
roadside; the bodies of thieves and felons hanging from
the trees served as a warning of the punishment for
robbing on the highway. Every time a general won a
victory the heads of the vanquished were sent to the city
to be displayed in the royal square as proof of success.
After twenty-four hours the heads were removed to the
imperial highway where they hung from trees or were
deposited on pillars built for the purpose. The stench of
decomposing bodies forced the two to hold their noses.

No sooner were they able to breathe less malodorous
air than they were forced to cover their noses again. The
smell of burning flesh signalled they were near water —
holy water. This was a Hindu cremation. It was the
desire of all good Hindus to have their ashes placed in
the holy river, the Ganges. The Jumna joined the Ganges
further along at Allahabad. Having put together the
driest wood one could find, it would then be soaked with
oil; the corpse, having been anointed with oil, would then
be placed on top of the funeral pyre and the whole set
ablaze, the red flames being reflected in the silver grey of
the sacred river. The ashes would be gathered and,
accompanied by many ceremonies, thrown into the holy
water. In this way they would be cleansed from sin. The
ashes of Hindu nobles would be carried great distances
to be thrown into the river.

The sound of much wailing and shouting and
screaming indicated suttee. When a Hindu died his wife
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or wives were cremated alive with the husband. The
noise and commotion made by the bystanders was to
drown out the screams of those being immolated alive. If
the deceased was an important personage his servants
were also burned with him so as to serve him in another
world as they had done in this. The servants considered
themselves lucky if the master chose them before his
death to accompany him to another world. If the wife
refused to join her husband on the funeral pyre her life
was made difficult. Her hair was cut and she was held in
disrespect by all her people. She could not remarry.
Rather than spend the rest of their days as outcasts
many young women would choose to die in this way.

Goes had been perplexed at the common practice of
child marriage. He had seen a few such marriages on his
way through towns and villages. To the accompaniment
of pipes and other wind instruments and drums a young
boy of eight to ten years, garlanded with jasmine and
marigold, sprinkled with rose water, would be riding on a
gaily decked horse with his bride of five to seven years of
age sitting behind him. They would then repair to a
banquet of rice and saffron and fruits and coloured
sweetmeats while the nautch girls danced the legends of
Krishna and the Gopis and the story of Rama and Sita
through the night. The young married couple would then
separate and only come together again a few years later.
Goes learnt that the custom of child marriage was
connected with the practice of suttee. When a father died
and was cremated, his wife with him, then the children
of the couple would not be orphaned, they would have
the father of their spouse to look after them till they
grew up.

Agra, built in 1563 by Akbar and called Akbarabad,
was one of the largest cities in the world. It was situated
in a great open plain on the banks of the holy Jumna.
The city was sixteen miles long beside the river. Huge
barges, very long and between four and five hundred
tons apiece, carried salt, opium, asafoetida (gum resin),
lead, carpets, down the river to link up with the mighty
Ganges and then proceed to Calcutta in Bengal. The
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merchants set up their tents on the barges as though
they were encamped in a field. There were many fine
buildings and residences of noblemen and of wealthy
merchants, built of brick and stone, flat-roofed. These
were set apart as if they were frightened of one another.
This was because round the buildings were the
less-pretentious mud-walled houses, covered with thatch,
of the many servants of the household, the stables, etc.
The straw buildings were a considerable fire hazard, each
year several being burned to the ground. Other houses
by the river were fronted by wood and stone images, of
lions, leopards, monkeys — some resembled men and
women — others had peacocks and others that looked
like devils with four arms and four hands.

There were thousands of people bathing and
performing their ceremonies in the river. Many
Brahmins, the highest caste of Hindus, were gathering
up the water in their hands or in their Benares brass
‘chattees’ (vessels) and bathing their naked bodies.
Round their necks they wore the Sanskrit yagnopavitam
or sacred triple cord, which was made of cotton gathered
from the plant only by a pure Brahmin and corded and
spun only by those of the Brahmin caste. The Brahmins
could be distinguished by the yellow mark on their
foreheads, made of a paste of sandalwood, with saffron
and other ingredients. When they met out of doors they
would salute each other by putting their hands to their
heads and saying Ram! Ram! (God! God!). There were
many baniyas in the city. They could be distinguished by
the chattees (brass vessels) in which they carried water
from the river to their devotees far and wide. Many
Hindu -princes believed it a religious duty to drink
Ganges water and would even send camels on two or
three months’ journey to procure it.

The city was not walled but most of the principal
streets had huge gateways. The main building was the
fortress, surrounded with walls of red squared stone at
least thirty feet high, with battlements and towers. The
fortress was on the bank of the river, so the large ditch
or moat surrounding it could easily be filled with water
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when needed. A drawbridge spanned the moat. Within
the fortress almost another city existed. Here also lived
the King's sons, each in his own palace, and other
noblemen close to the Emperor.

The city was a metropolis of people from all parts of
the sub-continent thronging the streets — Rajputs and
Sikhs, Kolis, Gujaratis, Mahrattas, Kashmiris, Parsees,
Nagas, Mochis, Vesawas and even Bhils, tall, thin, black
figures, menacing in appearance, with just rags and
goatskins for covering their long, black, greasy hair
falling beyond their shoulders, carrying spears. They
included people of all religions, beliefs and of all castes
and sub-castes, from degenerate Hinduism to the
witchcraft of the Bhils. The main street leading to the
palace was a sort of continuous bazaar, swarming with
frequenters to the court. In the markets one could buy
anything, from brass-ware, pots, kettles, candle-sticks to
shirts of mail, swords, buckles, lances; from camels and
elephants to opium. Most of the women wore rings on
their toes and so went barefoot. Many wore rings of
brass — or nobler metal, such as silver — about their
ankles and around their arms. The city seemed to have
more than its share of yogis — Hindu ascetics or holy
men of extremely variable holiness. There was one who
sat by the road, completely naked, his private parts
covered by the very long beard he grew. The nails on his
fingers were at least two inches long. He never spoke a
word. If someone spoke to him he would place a hand on
his chest and bow, but he would never speak. Not even
to Akbar would he speak. Since the area abounded with
wild beasts of every kind — lions, tigers, even the
occasional rhinoceros — the King was able to keep up
his passion for hunting.

Akbar remained in Agra till the July of the following
year, 1599. The great Mughal army then proceeded
south-westwards to the Deccan. They crossed the
Aravalli range of mountains by passes so rough and
difficult that it sometimes took a whole day to cover a
distance equal to the range of an arquebus, often having
literally to cut their way through.
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Sweeping all before him the great Akbar finally
arrived at Burhanpur, a large city on the river Tapti, on
the borders of the Deccan. It was famous for the
excellent cloth produced there, especially for the making
of women's head-dresses and veils. This trade attracted
many Persian and Armenian traders to the city. For two
centuries Burhanpur had been the capital of the Faruki
kings of Khandesh. Beyond the river the castle stood out,
guarding the unwalled city. Standing on the bank beside
the castle was a huge stone elephant, its forehead
painted red, which was revered and worshipped by
many. It was so lifelike that one day a live elephant that
had come to the river's edge to drink, rushed the carved
elephant and in so doing broke both his tusks.

The entire plain surrounding the city was covered
with tents for miles and miles. This was the army of the
King of Deccan, fifty thousand men, fifteen thousand
horse, two hundred elephants, one hundred guns. and
other artillery pieces.

Against this formidable force Akbar drew up his army
in battle order, divided into a left flank, a right flank and
a centre. The great Mughal Emperor buckled on his light
armour and was no sooner accoutred than he mounted
his horse arranged in iron mail and rode out on to the
battle field. Akbar was a very brave soldier indeed. He
led by personal example. He knew from experience how
important it was for the King to be present himself
during an important battle. At the battle for
Ahmednagar, when his forces were drawn up in battle
array against those of Sultan Bahadur, his captains had
begun to talk of avoiding an action for fear of being
beaten, since Bahadur's army was much the more
powerful. When Akbar learnt this, he hurried in person
to the spot, although at a distance of four days’ journey
from the army, and thus so completely restored the
courage of his troops that they gained a victory and
routed the foe.

The King, attended by some of the greatest lords of
the kingdom, rode between the lines of troops in battle
array. Other horsemen rode in front, clearing a way for
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the commander-in-chief. The red caps and paggarees
stood out. These were the Turks from Persia. Their red
headgear indicated they were Muslims of the Shiah
persuasion. (Ali was the adopted son of the Prophet
Mohammed whose daughter Fatima he married. The
Shiahs hold that he should have succeeded to the
Khalifate on the death of Mohammed and the claims of
Ali against those of Abu Bakr, Umar and Usman, gave
rise to the Shiah schism.)

Gun-carriages had brought the guns and heavy
artillery to the forward positions. Between every two guns
was a space of about ten yards defended by a chain.
These guns, as well as the carts, formed the
breastworks. Behind the guns came the matchlock men,
placed there to prevent the artillery from being cut off
from the infantry and bowmen who were behind. The
tufanguis or arquebusiers were priming their clumsily
made banduks with powder (ranjak-dan) stored in horn
receptacles. Here and there were men armed with crude
hand grenades. In the rear were the armed elephants.
Akbar commanded no less than fifty thousand elephants,
armed and trained for battle. To protect the head from
blows, the heads of the elephants were covered with a
plate of iron or tough hide. A long sword, as thick and
wide as a man’s hand, was attached to the trunk and a
highly sharpened dagger to each of the tusks which
protruded from the mouth. On its back each elephant
had four small wooden turrets from which four soldiers
fired their bows, arquebuses or muskets. Some of the
elephants even carried a small, iron cannon, six feet
long, capable of firing shot the size of a tennis-ball. The
cannon stood on a strong square frame of wood fastened
by ropes to the back of the elephant. The corners of the
frame bore silk banners on short poles. The driver of the
elephant, the mahout, was protected by a cuirass or by
plates of metal overlapping like scales. When the mahout
shouted ‘Go forward' or ‘Turn back’ the elephant did so.
When he shouted ‘Strike this one’, ‘Strike that one’, or
‘Do not strike anymore' the elephant carried out the
command. Elephants armed in this way were not placed
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An armed elephant goes into action
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in the front line because they would block out the enemy
from the view of the soldiers. Moreover, if elephants were
wounded they would break the ranks of the soldiers and
so throw the army into disarray. However, Akbar once
began an action with his elephants so as to surprise and
alarm the enemy’'s cavalry who were unaccustomed to
these animals. But galled by the lances, arrows and
javelins the elephants became unruly and disdaining the
command of their riders turned and threw his own
troops into confusion. Another advantage of having the
elephants in the rear was that if the enemy managed to
break through so far, this massive and formidable force
could be swiftly brought into action to bar further
progress. Not only that, they would seize with their
trunks anyone in their path, raise them high into the air,
dash them to the ground and then trample them
underfoot. Or they would charge, butting their way
through like rams, causing havoc and panic among
horse and foot and put them to rout.

Akbar looked up into the sky — not a cloud or sign
of rain. This would aid his bowmen because rain makes
the bows sodden and slack. Rain would also hinder the
effective use of his cavalry.

The kettle-drums sounded the advance. Father Xavier
prayed the coming carnage would not be too apocalyptic.
He and Goes both knew that if the advance failed, not
only Akbar and his men but the two Jesuits, too, would
also fall.

The whole sky was soon cordite brown as the
hundreds of thousands of feet and hooves of Akbar’s
army disturbed the sandy dust which spiralled up into
the heavens, looking like dark clouds of rain. The big
guns on both sides started the bombardment. The
matchlockmen lit matches, to ignite the gunpowder in
their matchlocks. The din was indescribable. And then as
was the custom — the two armies engaged at close
quarters with the most furious charges. The clash of
arms — lances and swords and shields, the twanging of
the bows as they released their arrows — was almost
drowned out by the shouting and screaming of men, the
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neighing of frenzied horses and camels, the trumpeting of
the war elephants. It was a scene out of hell. Finally, for
want of good discipline, one side lost ground and was
finally routed. The slaughter became sheer carnage.

Akbar had partly avenged the killing of his son.

His victorious but depleted army then moved on to
Asirgarh, twelve miles north-east of Burhanpur. Asirgarh
— the fort of Asir — commanded one of the main roads
of Hindustan from an outlying spur on a hill 850 feet
above the surrounding country. The area of the fort was
some sixty acres. It could accommodate fifty thousand
horse. The late king, Bahadur Shah, had no less than
six hundred pieces of ordnance to defend it. The fort was
impregnable, as Akbar was to find out. It was skirted by
a wall, below which a precipice fell 120 feet. It was
scarped so well as to leave only two places of ascent.
That on the north led up a ravine and was guarded by
an outer rampart. The most practicable access was on
the south-west face but this was defended by a strong
outwork called Kamargah.

Akbar encircled the castle on all sides and laid siege
to it for weeks. The weeks turned into months. Perhaps
more heavy guns would destroy the fortifications. Akbar
ordered Father Xavier to write to the Portuguese
authorities requesting guns and ammunition. Foolhardy
and brave was the man who refused an order from the
Emperor. But the good priest did just that. He informed
the King that he could not do that as such action was
contrary to the Christian faith. The Emperor flew into a
rage and told the priest to pack his few belongings and
leave immediately for Goa. Xavier went to his tent and
prepared for the inevitable punishment meted out to
those who dared disobey the Emperor's command. Yet
another one, or two names — if Goes was to be executed
as well — would be added to the steadily mounting list of
Jesuit martyrs.

But nothing was said or done. In a few days the King
had mellowed and the affair forgotten.

The siege had lasted eleven months, with no signs of
surrender by the beleaguered fortress. Finally shortage of
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Battle Scene
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water brought the surrender which Akbar's military
might could not. The little water that remained became
contaminated with ‘worms’, which caused the people who
drank it to ‘swell and burst. When the fort was
eventually taken Xavier managed to plead successfully
for the lives of some of the half-caste renegades among
the prisoners and reconvert them to Christianity.

Akbar moved on to attack yet another fortress that
stood in his all-conquering march to subjugate the whole
of the Deccan. This time his adversary was Princess
Chand Bibi (Lady Moon). She defended herself with great
vigour, but was obliged to surrender the fortress for want
of provisions. This princess was so grieved at seeing
herself despoiled of her dignities that she made up her
mind not to allow her wealth to fall into the hands of
Akbar. With this idea she gave orders that all the gold
she had should be melted and made into cannon-balls.
Upon these she had words engraved to the effect that the
balls belonged to anyone who found them, that no one
had the right to take them by force from the finder,
adding other words of malediction against him who acted
otherwise. The cannon were loaded with these balls, and
they were discharged in all directions. After the fortress
was taken King Akbar fell in love with the Princess for
her beauty, and transferred her to his own palace.

In August 1600 one of Akbar’s great captains, Abdur
Rahim, Khan-Khaman, was sent in advance with fifty
thousand men to capture by force the fortress of
Ahmednagar, the chief stronghold of King Malik. Akbar
was now master of the whole Deccan. In half a century
Akbar had turned a mere foot-hold in the north-west into
control of most of Hindustan.

But other problems awaited the all-conquering
warrior. Some of Akbar’s captains put it into the head of
his son Prince Salim, then thirty-two, that he should
revolt against his father and take over the throne. The
revolt occurred and Akbar and his force hurried back to
Agra. It was not long before Salim was taken prisoner.

The love which Akbar had felt for his son held him
back from meting out the punishment that such a crime
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would normally have exacted. Still, he did not omit to
give him a lesson. Some days afterwards, when both
were going out together to the chase, Salim saw on the
roadside the impaled bodies of the rebellious captains.
Akbar said to him: “Thus are rebels dealt with; you knew
well that I had no other son than you, and that you
must inherit the whole of my conquests. Therefore, you
set a very bad example and historians will not fail to
record you as the first of the great Tamerlane's race who
rebelled against his father. It may well be that the crime
was not really yours, but that of those men there who
gave you bad advice, for which they have received their
reward. It very nearly happened that as you had shared
in the crime, so likewise you should have shared the
penalty. But the love and affection that I have for you
would not permit me to vent on you my just
indignation.”

Akbar could be cruel. But he could also temper
cruelty with generosity and mercy. His finance minister
Khwaja Shah Mansuri was twice convicted of conspiracy
and treasonable correspondence with Mirza Muhammad
Hakim, ruler of Kabul. Akbar forgave him each time,
graciously restoring him to favour and office. However,
when the minister so forgot himself as to repeat the
offence a third time Akbar sentenced him to death by
crucifixion.

While Father Xavier had returned to Agra from the
Deccan campaign with the Emperor's forces, Goes had
said his farewell and set off in an entirely opposite
direction — back to Goa.

Akbar had long cast covetous eyes on the Portuguese
settlements to the south of his new kingdoms in the
Deccan. :

In order to keep an eye on what the Portuguese were
doing and to ascertain their military strength Akbar
frequently sent agents to Goa, ostensibly as
ambassadors. He always sent his agents at times when
ships were said to be due from Portugal, so that they
might take note of what came in them, whether in the
way of merchandise, or munitions or mern.
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In 1601 Akbar sent Sultan Hamid as his ambassador
to Goa, to meet the Viceroy to discuss a permanent
peace by land and by sea with the Portuguese. Sultan
Hamid was from the Kingdom of Cambaya, a person of
great wealth and influence, a Gujarati by birth and a
Mohammedan. The Emperor asked de Goes to
accompany this missicn.

In March 1601 Goes set out for Goa. As a token of
his esteem for Goes Akbar allowed him to take back with
him to Goa a band of half-caste children of Portuguese
descent who had been carried off as prisoners-of-war by
Akbar’s armies at Barhanpur and other fortresses.

Goes set off to the south-east. His journey through
cactus-ridden country would take him several months,
even longer, now that he had a party of children to care
for. His path took him to Baldapur, Golconda, Bijapur,
Belgaum, Goa. It meant negotiating the Ajanta range of
mountains, crossing the Godavari river, climbing the
Balaghat range, crossing the Bhima river and then the
river Krishna. The road was dry and stony, often only a
path wide enough for just a cart. It all turned out even
worse than he had expected. As well as the ever-present
hazard of attacks by robbers, and the wild animals such
as lion and tiger and wild buffalo and wild pig, there was
often little or no food, little or no water. The young
bodies in his care could not cope. They got sick; there
was the occasional snakebite. There were no
sulphonamides and penicillin and other wonder drugs
then. There were no paediatricians and hospitals. In
serious cases often the only remedy was opium. It got
increasingly hotter every day. He hoped he would reach
his destination before the south-west monsoon broke at
the end of May. Then the roads, bad as they were, would
become completely impassable. Streets would be several
feet under water, safe only for horses to cross.

The sight of ‘topless’ men and women indicated they
were getting farther and further south — nearing home.
They were nearly there when they finally reached
Belgaum. Finally they crossed the Mandovi river which
separated the mainland from Goa. They were home!
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The Kingdom Of Cathay

Three years earlier, while he was still in Lahore, an
incident occurred which was to profoundly affect Bento
de Goes's future life.

It was a particularly hot afternoon; the h:at was
overpowering, almost suffocating. Even the lizards, which
mercifully devoured the mosquitoes, and rats and
mongooses that made sleep at night difficult as they
gambolled through the thick thatch of reeds and grass
laid underneath the tiles of the roof so as to keep out the
heat during the day, were stilled. He had taken off his
soutane, hopefully to ease his prickly heat. In shorts and
undervest he had made for the verandah in search of
some cool breeze to soothe the itching. But breeze there
was none. Just a shimmering haze of scorching heat.

An excited voice called de Goes to his
sparsely-furnished room.

“It's true! It's true!" Father Xavier had shouted.

“What's true?” asked Goes.

“The kingdom; the kingdom!”

“What kingdom?” Goes asked again, completely
bewildered by the words of his excited colleague.

“Cathay. Yes, it exists. Cathay exists.”

Father Jerome had just returned from the bazaar
where he had been talking to some Muslim merchants.
They had convinced him in his suspicion that a country
called Cathay existed and that many of its population
were Christians.
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Cathay was one of those legendary countries that
were spoken of but no one knew what it was or where it
was, if ever it existed at all, like the supposed lost city of
Atlantis. Before the time of the Mongols* (13th century)
the name of Cathay had not been known in Europe.
Originally it belonged to a people which was not Chinese,
the Khitans, a Manchu tribe, who up to the tenth
century occupied a tract of country in the north-east of
China beyond the Chingan mountains. A conqueror
arose among them, who soon extended their territory
from the Sea of Korea to the Altai mountains, and before
long they had pushed south as far as the left bank of the
Hoang-ho. For two centuries Northern China and the
adjoining territories formed the empire of the Leaos or
the Iron Dynasty. As the country formed an outlying part
of the great Chinese empire, the conquerors, the Khitans,
made this civilisation their own and the neighbouring
tribes began to apply the name of Khithai (Cathay) to the
latter country. In turn the Leao dynasty and its
successor were swept away when the barbarian
Mongolian hordes under Jenghiz Khan conquered Khithai
in 1206 and became its new rulers. The Mongol hordes
burst through the gate of Dzungaria, and deluging
Western Asia, the plundering bands effaced every
boundary line as they laid waste the plains of Siberia
and Sarmatia. In a matter of years the Mongol empire
stretched from the Yellow River to the Danube. No
human power could stem the tide of destruction.
European civilisation seemed doomed. One way remained
— to win over the pagan hordes to Christianity and the
Graeco-Roman civilisation. With this motive in mind

Pope Innocent Il sent the first missionaries to the Great
Khan.

* The Mongols originated from N-E China and in the 13th century went
on raids westwards, reaching Western Asia, the Caspian Sea and upto
the river Danube.

Then came a split and one of the branches turmed eastwards through
Afghanistan and into India. These are known in history as the
Mughals. Hence in the book both names are used depending on the
timing and place.
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In 1246 John of Plano Carpini, an Italian Franciscan
friar and one of St. Francis’s first companions, made the
journey to Cathay, getting as far as Karakorum. He was
the first European to reach the Far East overland. His
journey is shown on the map. He met with little success
at the Great Khan's court and was sent back with an
insolent letter to the Pope.

In 1253 William of Rubruck, the next envoy, was sent
out to the same region by King Louis IX of France, who
was at that time engaged in the Sixth Crusade. His route
was very similar to that taken by Carpini. From Lake
Balkash he travelled, as Carpini had done, past Ala Kul
and across Mongolia to the Court of the Grand Khan,
which he reached on December 26th. Thence, after some
delay, William moved with the court to Karakorum,
where he remained till July 6th, 1254. He wrote:

“Further on is Great Cathaya, the inhabitants whereof were of
old time called Seres. For from them are brought the most
excellent stuffs of silk. The inhabitants of Cathay are of small
stature, they speak mostly through the nose, as is the case
with nearly all Asiatics, their eyes are very narrow.”

It was narratives such as these that gave to
Western Europe the first fairly accurate picture of
Central Asia.

In 1255 two Venetian traders, Nicolé and Maffeo Polo,
reached Serai by the Black Sea route already used by
the envoys to the Great Khan. Their return was
prevented by the unsettled state of the country, and so
they travelled to Bokhara, and thence to the Court of the
Grand Khan, at Cambaluc (Khan-balig = Khan's town),
near Peking. After an absence of fourteen years they
came back to Acre, bearing a message for the Pope. They
had penetrated into Asia farther than any other
European.

These men returned to the East in 1271, and took
with them Marco, son of Nicolo, who has left an
invaluable record of the journey. From Acre they
travelled to Armenia, and, skirting the western highlands
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of Persia, passed through Bagdad to Basra, and reached
Ormuz. Here they proposed to take ship for the East,
but, disliking the unseaworthy appearance of the boats,
turned inland, and crossed Persia to Balkh. Their route
then lay over the Pamirs to Kashgar, where they began
their journey through the towns that lay at the foot of
the Kuen Lun range. From Yarkand and Khotan they
continued eastward, passing to the south of Lob Nor,
crossing the Ordos, and so reaching Peking. Even now
their journeys were not over, for the Venetians lived in
China for seventeen years. This long residence gave
Marco Polo an opportunity to see something of the great
Chinese plain, to travel through Shansi, Shensi, and
Szechwan, to the distant Yunnan, and even to Burma,
and to visit Cochin-China.

The Venetians returned to Europe by the sea route,
sailed through the Straits of Malacca, skirted the south
coast of India and passed along its western shores, and
again reached Ormuz. Thus the homeward journey
supplemented, in an important way, the land route to
Asia.

In his book of travels (The Book of Ser. Marco Polo),
published in 1559, Marco Polo gave a description of a
fabulous mysterious country called Cathay, located in
Central Asia. Cathay was synonymous with Eldorado, a
land of wealth on the far side of the world. Unfortunately
the great rich country described in such detail by Polo
was impossible to locate from the details in his narrative.

Odoric de Pordenone (1316-1328) was another
Franciscan who penetrated into darkest Asia. In 1338
John de Marignolli, envoy of Pope Benedict XII, made the
journey to the Great Khan.

All these Franciscan legates to the court of the Great
Khan described a marvellous kingdom far east of Asia and
south of Tartary, called Great Cathay, of immense extent,
with the largest cities, widest rivers and greatest plains
ever seen, where gunpowder, coal, paper-money and
printing were in general use. Its huge population were
idolaters but in the capital city, Cambaluc, at the court of
the Great Khan, lived a community of Christians.
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It was reports such as these that led to the notion of
a great Christian kingdom called Cathay ruled by one
Prester John. It was at first believed that Abyssinia was
the home of Prester John. Indeed Ignatius of Loyola sent
some of the first Jesuits to that country to cater to the
needs of any Christians there. Then later Cathay, a
kingdom somewhere right up in the north in Tartary and
extending to the great wall of China, was belleved to be
the home of the real Prester John. In 1487 King John II
of Portugal sent two travellers to search for the kingdom
of Prester John in the East. When Vasco de Gama sailed
from Portugal in 1497 he carried letters for Prester John.

The unification of a great part of Asia by the Mongols
greatly assisted the process of discovering that continent
and also of opening up two of the three great trade
routes between east and west.

Then in the middle of the fourteenth century the
great Mongol empire began to totter. It was finally
destroyed by the incessant attacks of the Chinese which
heralded the Ming dynasty. The Asian door was closed.
The new conquerors, the Chinese, enforced their ancient
policy of isolation and expelled and kept out foreigners.
At the same time Islamism, whose advance had been
repulsed by the Mongols, spread and in time a whole
chain of Mohammedan nations almost completely severed
any links between the West and the Far East. Asia was
sealed off. Travel there was no longer possible. The
number of missionaries steadily decreased and with them
that of the merchants who had followed in their track.
Occasional mention is made of friars sent out by the
papal court at Avignon. But then they too vanish in the
gathering darkness and all was silence.

Nicholas Conti wrote of what he had been told by
others about Cathay:

"Beyond this province of Macinus is one which is superior to
all others in the world, and is named Cathay. The lord of this
country is called the Great Khan, which in the language of the
inhabitants means emperor. The principal city is called
Cambaleschia. It is built in the form of a quadrangle, and is
twenty-eight miles in circumference. In the centre is a very
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handsome and strong fortress, in which is situated the king's
palace. In each of the four angles there is constructed a
circular fortress for defence, and the circuit of each of these
is four miles. In these fortresses are deposited military arms
of all sorts, and machines for war and the storming of cities.
From the royal palace a vaulted wall extends through the city
to each of the said four fortresses, by which, in the event of
the people rising against the king, he can retire into the
fortresses at his pleasure. Fifteen days distant from this city
there is another, very large, called Nemptai (now Hangchow),
which has been built by this king. It is thity miles in
circumference, and more populous than the others. In these
two cities, the houses and palaces and other ornaments are
similar to those in ltaly: the men, gentle and discreet, wise,
and more wealthy than any that have been before mentioned."

But there was no first-hand information. Fancy was
free to adorn and invent. An impenetrable fog enveloped
Cathay and its famous capital Cambaluc, of which so
many marvellous tales had been told by ancient
travellers. Cathay, marked tentatively on maps as lying
north-west of China, faded away beyond the mountains
of Central Asia.

But Cathay’s very elusiveness only increased its hold
on the imagination. Columbus searched for Cathay in his
voyage across the Atlantic to the west. In fact when he
landed at Cuba at first he thought it was the mainland
of Catayo (Cathay). Columbus was not the only explorer
to seek for a shorter way to Cathay: it was the object of
every voyage “round by the north”. England began to
direct her efforts to finding Cathay, with its supposedly
cold climate, hoping to barter her broadcloth for silks
and silver. In 1553 Sir Hugh Willoughby and Richard
Chancellor sailed from Deptford with a fleet of three
ships to find a north-east passage. But the crews
perished of cold on the coast of Lapland.

Anthony Jenkinson, Chief Factor of the Muscovy
Company, whose articles bound him "to use all ways and
means possible to learn how men may pass from Russia
to Cathaia" attempted a land route with as little success.
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The world had been circumnavigated, unimagined
continents discovered, yet Cathay which had been lost
for 200 years refused to yield her secret. By the
beginning of the seventeenth century many people
doubted if such a place as Cathay existed.

When Father Monserrat had visited Fatehpur Sikri on
the first Jesuit mission to the Mughal court he had met
some of the widely-travelled merchants of northern India
whose caravans had for centuries travelled across the
Pamir passes to Turkestan and China. They told him
about a land called Cathay, the land of Silk Merchants.
All the silk exported from China to Europe came from
this land by Chinese caravans. The Land of the Silk
Merchants was part of Asiatic Siberia, separated from
Tartary and Mongolia by the Imaus mountains. Its
capital, Cambaluch, was three thousand miles from
Samarkand.

It was from such travellers that Father Xavier had got
his news. He described the circumstance in a letter
dated 25th July 1598, which he wrote from Akbar’s
court in Lahore to the Father Provincial in Goa:

“One day | was talking with the Crown Prince, the King's
eldest son, when there came to the palace a rich merchant
about sixty years of age and of Mohammedan sect. He
entered the hall to pay his respects. Having done reverence
to the Prince, he was asked where he had come from. In
answer the merchant said he was just returned from the
kingdom of Khitai, which is the same as that which | called
Cathay, of which Marco Polo the Venetian makes mention in
his account of his Travels and Hayton the Armenian in his
History. It is also mentioned by certain of our modem authors,
who place it in Tartary, or thereabouts.

"In reply to the Prince’s enquiries about this kingdom, and
how long he had resided there, the merchant said that he had
been there for thirteen years, living in the capital city, which
he called Xambalu, being the same that is called Cambalu by
the writers above referred to, some of whom say that it is
twenty-four, others as much as thirty-two miles in circuit. It is
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also, the merchant said, the usual residence of the King,
whom he had seen many times, and who, according to his
account, is a very mighty monarch; for he has in his kingdom
as many as fifteen hundred towns, and all very populous.

"Being asked how he had been able to enter the country, he
replied that he had gone there pretending to be an
ambassador of the King of Kashgar, but that, notwithstanding
this, he was detained by the governor of the first frontier town
to which he came, until the King had been informed of his
arrival. This was not done until the seals of the letters which
he carried had been examined, when a message was sent to
the King by a courier, who returned within a month bringing
permission for him to proceed to court. The journey, he said,
was easily accomplished, though the distance was very great;
for they changed horses at each post, as in Europe, and
were thus able to cover each day ninety or a hundred cos,
which would represent as many Italian miles, or from
twenty-five to thirty of our ordinary leagues. Throughout the
journey, they were free from molestation, for justice is very
strictly administered in those parts, and robbers are never
pardoned.

"Questioned further as to the appearance and manners of the
inhabitants of the country, he said that he had never seen
handsomer people, exceeding the Rumes, that is to say the
Europeans, in comeliness, that the men usually wore long
beards, and that all of them, both men and women, were of a
white complexion. As to their religion, he said that they were
for the most part Isauites, or lesauites, meaning Christians,
who are so called by these people from the name Jesus, just
as we say Jesuites. Asked if all the people were Christians,
he replied that this was by no means the case; for many of
them were Mussauites, that is to say Jews (followers of
Moses). There were also, he added, others who were
Mohammedans, who were hoping to convert the Christian
King to their religion.

"At this point the conversation was interrupted, the Prince
graciously naming another day for the reception of the
merchant, in order to ask further questions about his empire.”
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However, Xavier, impatient and eager to learn more,
went to see the merchant in order to get more precise
information about the religion of the inhabitants. The
merchant gave the most minute details of the dress and
customs of the people.

Xavier was convinced of the merchant's story and
wrote a subsequent letter to his Superior vouching for
the truth of his earlier communication:

"The merchant said that they had many churches, some of
them very large, in which were to be seen images both
painted and sculptured. Amongst these he had seen one of
the crucifix, to which the people paid great reverence.
Belonging to each church there was a priest much respected
by his parishioners, from whom he received many presents.
Continence and chastity were strictly observed by the priests.

"The merchant said that the Fathers wear black robes, and a
cap on the head ‘very like yours, but a little larger'. He had
often seen the King go to the church, for he was a Christian.

“The merchant said that the people of Cathay were as a
general rule, well off, and that the country contained many
silver mines which were a source of great wealth. The King
maintained an establishment of four hundred elephants
trained for war. These were brought to him from Malaca.

Merchants also came there to trade from Pegu, which was

distant a six months’ journey."

Getting similar confirmation from other travellers
Father Xavier again wrote to the Provincial in a letter
dated 1st August 1599. In this he stated that Cathay
could be reached by travelling through Bengal and the
Kingdom of Ghoraghat (in the district of Cooch Behar)
where the empire of the Great Mughal terminates; but that
the easiest route, and the one usually followed by
merchants, was that which commenced at Lahore, and led
through Kashmir and Tibet, whose King was on very good
terms with the Great Mughal, straight to Kashgar whence
it was but a short distance to the first town of Cathay,
which the merchants say is inhabited by Christians.
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Nicholas Pimenta, who was Vicar-General to the
Indies mission, was understandably confused when he
received Father Xavier's letter from Lahore confirming
what Father Monserrat had stated earlier namely, that
the Kingdom of Cathay existed. He was confused because
he also had a letter dated 12th October 1596 from
Father Matteo Ricci in Nanking, China, to the effect that
there was no such kingdom as Cathay: merchants and
travellers had merely confused the names of Cathay and
China — they were one and the same country and the
rich city of Cambaluc was none other than Peking.

Ricci had arrived in Goa in 1578. Four years later he
was sent to Macao, off mainland China. By the end of the
century his work, incorporating whatever was best in
Chinese culture, had enabled him to establish a mission
even in the capital, Peking. Ricci’s scientific prowess, and
his literary prowess in Chinese, had soon gained him
considerable eminence at Peking. Ricci had studied under
Clavius, the most brilliant mathematician of his day. It
was Father Clavius who reformed the Gregorian Calendar.
From mathematics Ricci had progressed to astronomy and
the movement of the stars — still according to the
Ptolemaic system — that the earth was the centre of the
world and the sun went round the earth as our eyes tell
us — and thence to the construction of sundials, clocks,
spheres and astrolabes. Ricci had taken to China the
latest in scientific, surveying and astronomical
instruments. He travelled half of China and extended the
boundaries of the world known to Europe by thousands of
square miles. Whilst engaged in this work Ricci was also
searching simultaneously for another country — Cathay
— which eluded his grasp. His terrestrial and heavenly
measurements and researches soon gained him a
considerable reputation amongst the learned men of
Chinese science in Peking. He came to be known as the
‘Ptolemy of China’'.

His researches also led him to believe that Cathay
and China were not two, but one and the same country.
Though the ancient Franciscan missionaries and Marco
Polo did not employ the names now in use, yet their
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descriptions tallied perfectly with the people, the
customs, the products and the trade of China. Polo had
noted that the greatest city of Cathay contained twelve
thousand bridges. Ricci estimated that there were well
over a thousand in Nanking. Could Polo have been
describing Nanking under another name? Polo also
mentioned a great river dividing Cathay from east to
west. Could that be the Yangtze, which separated the
seven northern from the eight southern provinces? The
different appellations were difficult to explain, but it
might be that the Mongol conquerors of Polo's day had
provided names from their own tongue. If Cathay, which
by all writers was said to be a great country in the Far
East, existed then surely, Ricci argued, something should
be known about it in China, whether from war or from
commercial relations. Such a country could not remain
utterly unknown. Whilst in the west the name of Cathay
was on the lips of every geographer, occupying on atlases
a vast position east of Persia and north-west of China,
the Chinese were ignorant of the name. Ricci had
consulted and questioned maps, histories, scholars, but
they had never heard of Cathay.

Ricci informed the authorities in India and in Europe
of his conclusions that China and Cathay were the same.
This view was strengthened by his visit to Peking in
1598. As a foreigner he was incarceratea in what he
euphemistically called the "palace for foreigners". This
‘palace’ was a huge enclosure, with more than a
thousand rooms, surrounded by high walls and locked
gates. The rooms, without doors, chairs, benches or
beds, were more stalls for beasts than for men. Here
were housed the hundreds of foreigners, including horse
thieves, pedlars, rascals of every sort, who came to
Peking in the guise of ‘ambassadors’ to seek an audience
with the Emperor Wan-li. Actually they were nearly all
merchants interested only in trade. No one was allowed
out. As barbarian tribute-bearers they were not guests
but prisoners. Everyone was aware of the charade, but
all, by a kind of tacit agreement, and to their mutual
profit, kept up the ambassadorial ‘game’.
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The charade had begun in the reign of the Emperor
Yung-lo (1403-1424). In an excess of vainglory he had
sent emissaries far and wide to invite foreigners to pay
tribute and homage to him in his new capital. The
response was immediate and enthusiastic. Merchants
were only too glad of the opportunity to trade and a
steady stream of tribute-bearing ‘embassies’ flowed to
Peking from every country in the Far and Near East.
Their camels, horses and caravans, carrying valuable
merchandise, were a common sight in the dusty streets
of Peking, although their freedom of movement was
strictly limited while in the imperial capital.

Part of the charade was the supposed imperial
audience which was granted to ‘ambassadors’. A
colourful procession of richly robed mandarins and
foreigners in ceremonial dress, escorted by several
thousand soldiers and led by lumbering elephants, would
make its way at the first streaks of dawn to the
magnificent audience chamber capable of holding thirty
thousand people. This had for long been the place of
genuine audiences, but since 1585 the emperors had
shut themselves off from all contacts with the outside
world. The charade was played out in the emperor’s
absence; the kowtows would be made to the empty
imperial throne, the gifts would be presented. Ricci could
not but laugh at some of the gifts proffered. Instead of
the exotic finery Ricci expected, suitable to the mightiest
monarch on earth, many brought pieces of iron which,
with handles of wood cut in the ‘palace’ grounds, would
be presented as curious swords. What they called
cuirasses (breast plates) were pieces of metal tied
together with lengths of tow. Others had drooping pack-
horses — mere skin and bones after the long journey —
which would be offered as steeds of Araby.

But the cost of vanity ran high. These ‘ambassadors’
were all wined, dined, entertained and maintained by the
imperial treasury and then sent on their way with gifts
worth over fifty thousand taels annually, as befitted so
great a lord, of far greater value than they had brought.
The mandarins knew exactly what was happening, but
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for several reasons let the farce continue. The trade with
foreign countries benefited China; they dared not
interfere with a plan which flattered the Emperor's
vanity; they feared to offend the merchants, lest they
either foment rebellion within or wage war from without;
and lastly, they were able to embezzle money intended
for the foreigners’ expenses.

The ‘palace’ of ambassadors would be crowded with
uncouth, raucous figures of every colour and
physiognomy, in turbans, marmot toques and gilt-quilled
helmets, a congeries of Asiatic peoples speaking a babel of
tongues. Ricci met men from Korea, Cochin-China, Siam,
Burma, Formosa, from the Tartar tribes, from Tibet,
Mongolia and the Moslem countries of Turkestan, some of
the embassies, together with servants, numbering over a
thousand men. The Mohammedans interested Ricci most.
They came from far Kashgar and had heard of Italy,
Venice, Spain, Portugal and consequently of Christianity.
They brought a small quantity of jade to the Emperor, a
stone highly prized in China, where it was carved by
means of abrasive quartz sand. But their main source of
profit was rhubarb, bought cheap in Kansu, where it grew
abundantly, and sold dear in Peking. With their profits
they bought Chinese silk.

Ricci decided to question these merchants about
Cathay. On his first visit to Peking he had arranged for
Brother Sebastian to call on one of the Mohammedans
who had arrived in the capital forty years previously from
Arabia to present the Emperor with a lion, an animal
which the Chinese knew to exist but had seldom seen.
This Arabian had referred to China as Khitai, a name
which Ricci had considered sufficiently similar to Cathay
to warrant amplifying his theory, first suggested by the
bridges of Nanking, and to assume Marco Polo had been
writing about China under the name of Cathay. Ricci
found seventy or more Mohammedans from Central
Asian countries in the enclosure. The Mohammedans in
the ‘palace’ assured Ricci that in the Great Mongol's
kingdom, in Persia and elsewhere, the Middle Kingdom,
namely China, was known only by the name Khitai
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(Cathay) and that they knew its capital as Cambaluc.
From his conversations with them he adduced more
evidence to support his conviction that China and the
mysterious Cathay of Marco Polo were one and the same.

But Ricci’'s arguments did not win much support.
Many people, unwilling to give up the country of fable
and legend, merely assigned it another place on the map.
Thus, for instance, the maps of Blaeu and Ortelius
shifted Cathay and all the names associated with it
bodily to the north, placing it in the Amur territory far
beyond the new-found China and its great wall.

There was a major discrepancy between the letters
from Xavier and from Ricci. Xavier's Mohammedan
informants had seen priests and several symbols of the
practice of Christianity in Cathay. They had seen statues
of the Virgin’ and of saints; the priests placed candles
and lamps on an altar; they wore sacred vestments
which looked like chasubles and copes; they sang in the
manner of Gregorian chant. When Josaphat Barbaro had
made inquiries about Cathay among the Tartars at Tana
he had been assured the inhabitants were Christians.
Anthony Jenkinson, who had been commissioned by
some English merchants with the definite object of
finding Cathay, was told at Bokhara in 1559 that the
religion of the people of Cathay was the religion of the
Christians or at least strongly resembled it.

But whilst Xavier's informants had spoken of large
numbers of Christians in Cathay, Ricci mentioned no
Christians in China. How would Christian Cathay and
heathen China be one and the same country? Even the
court customs in Cathay differed widely from those
observed by Ricci in China. Ricci argued that these
Mohammedan travellers had been deceived — as even
some missionaries had been — by the outward similarities
between the Christian and Buddhist rituals and customs.

The weight of almost every known authority and of
many centuries opposed any identification of Cathay with
China. The evidence seemed to favour the Jesuits in
India, on their evidence from Mohammedan informants.
It could be that Cathay was a country contiguous to
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China and that its name was extended to also cover
China.

The only way to solve the riddle was by a voyage of
discovery to the mysterious kingdom that lay behind the
mountains. At the worst, even if no kingdom should be
found, if there were no long-neglected communities of
Christians to be ministered to, the expedition might at
least result in the opening of a new land-route to China
shorter than the dangerous sea-voyage.

The Vicar-General, Father Pimenta, wrote to the
Pope, suggesting such an expedition to re-discover
Cathay. Here was an ample and untouched field awaiting
the labours of the Society of Jesus. The permission was
readily given. As Portugal was still under the sovereignty
of Spain, Pimenta then wrote to King Philip II of Spain
requesting the necessary funds.

At the time the English still clung to the idea of a
north-west passage, and the Dutch were trying to find a way
to Cathay and China, passing north of Norway, through
Moscow and Tartary. Hoping to forestall these ventures for
Cathay’s riches, Philip approved the scheme. He ordered
Ayres de Saldanha, who was then Viceroy of India, to
forward such an expedition to the best of his ability.

It was also politic and expedient that the Mogul
Emperor should be informed of these developments.
Father Xavier was instructed to appraise Akbar, which
he did:

“Sire, our Superior has been told how in the kingdom of Catay,
there are many who profess the Christian faith, of whom no
sure tidings have been received in Europe for more than three
hundred years, partly because they are so far separated from
other Christians, and partly because of the wars that have
taken place in the countries through which it is necessary to
pass in order to reach them. It is now the desire of our Superior
to send three or four Fathers to see in what state these
Christians are, and aid them to attain salvation; for it is our
mission in life to travel the world, taking no account of dangers,
in order to show men the way to etemal life.”

The King replied in his own language, Rahat met
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An Expedition Is Mounted

Goes was on an embassy in Goa for the Mughal
Emperor, Akbar, when he was informed that he had
been chosen to undertake the mission to explore the
then wholly unknown route from India to Cataay, to
search out that lost kingdom and make contact with its
long neglected Christian population.

The Jesuit Fathers considered at great length a
possible route. Father Xavier remembered he had seen
the name ‘Cathay’ mentioned in a map of Russia,
Muscovy and Tartary in the Theatrum Mundi of the
Flemish cartographer Ortelius. A route was selected by
way of Kashmir and Tibet. They then consulted the
Typus Orbis Terrarum of Ortelius which had been
designed and published by the Englishman Anthony
Jenkinson in London in 1570. Though he did not get
beyond Bokhara in his travels, from information that he
received there, Jenkinson placed Cascara (Kashgar) on
his map at thirty days’ journey from the Cathay frontier.
Three months further travelling would bring one to the
gates of Cambulac.

A route Lahore-Kabul-Badakshan-?- was finally
decided upon. As a European Goes would be too
conspicuous. As a detested Portuguese he would hardly
survive a day in the company he would be travelling with
through wild, inhospitable people and country. To avoid
persecution and attack he would have to disguise
himself. He would also have to change his name.
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The rough plan for the expedition was as follows.
Goes was to disguise himself as an Armenian merchant
and to join one of the trading caravans which travelled
regularly to Afghanistan over the Khyber Pass. From
Kabul he was to proceed over the mountain passes of the
Pamir plateau as far as Yarkand and thence into Eastern
Turkestan. This was the limit of the Great Mogul's
domain. From this point on everything was unknown.
Hopefully Goes would pick up the merchants who, every
fifth year, set out for China with the ambassadors of the
King of Persia.

Before leaving Goa Goes paid his respects to the still
incorrupt body of another Jesuit, Francis Xavier, that lay
in the church of Bom Jesus, Old Goa. Francis Xavier
had left Rome in 1540 to evangelise the East. He worked
in India "consumed by a divine impatience" but the
ruthlessness and dissolute example of the Portuguese
officials which undid so much of the work he had begun,
had made him "flee", as he put it, to other distant fields
such as Japan. He even wrote a strong letter to the King
of Portugal advocating that stern measures be taken
against corrupt Portuguese officials, such as confiscating
their ill-gotten gains. From Japan Francis Xavier
travelled to China, but as a foreigner he was refused
entrance. On December 3rd, 1552, then only forty-six
years old, he died, attended by a faithful Chinese
servant, gazing from a bamboo hut across at the
inaccessible coast of China which he had tried in vain to
enter for four months. His body, clothed in the rich cloak
he had hoped to wear when he met the Emperor of
China, was transported to Goa one and half years after
his death.

Accompanied by Father Antonio Machado who was to
replace him at the court of Akbar, Goes left Goa at the
beginning of 1602 on the gruelling seven-month journey
to Agra.

Their vessel stopped at the bar at the entrance to
Surat. The bar was a small low island three miles from
the mouth of the river Tapti which became navigable for
smaller ships at spring tide. They travelled some twenty
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miles up river. In the distance could be seen, on the
right hand side, the walls of Surat castle, with a number
of cannons pointing to the river. They entered the city
through a gate over a draw-bridge. The captain of the
castle had two hundred horse at his disposal. They
passed the maidan, a large open space, in the middle of
which stood a kind of may-pole, on which a light was
hung. This was where the great Hindu festivals were
observed. The drumming of the tom-toms and the long,
plaintive, blasts of the conch shells, drew them to where
a large crowd had gathered. Women in gold sarees,
carrying oil-lamps, led a procession of gaily decorated
elephants carrying icons wrapped in red silk on their
backs. Another elephant, much bigger, following behind,
carried a statue of a deity. Two old Brahmin priests
wrapped in saffron garments, walked on either side of
the elephant, fanning the deity with exquisite fans made
out of peacock feathers. The throng watched silently as
their Lord passed by. Between the castle and maidan
were the bazaar and cattle and horse market. There were
many fine houses belonging to the merchants who lived
and traded there. They passed a dirty square where the
Untouchables — the outcasts — eked out their days,
where superstition had imprisoned them. The city was
encompassed by ditches and fenced with thick hedges.
Gates led out of the city. They chose the gate leading to
Nausari, on the river Purna, twenty miles south of Surat.
Near this gate was a massive square reservoir with stone
steps leading down to it from all sides. Under the shade
of a sacred tree faqirs sat in contemplation. It was
believed spirits dwelt in this tree. The tree had been cut
down and uprooted by Mohammedans but each time the
tree had sprung up again. Bats by the thousand hung
upside down from the many branches of a huge banyan
tree, emitting a most shrill cacophony.

On the way they observed men swaying from the tops
of palmyra palms, from the fermented juice of which the
intoxicating toddy or tari was made. That night they met
carousers who had partaken too much of the palm wine.

The inhabitants of Nausari were largely Parsee



102 In Search of Cathay

The rough plan for the expedition was as follows.
Goes was to disguise himself as an Armenian merchant
and to join one of the trading caravans which travelled
regularly to Afghanistan over the Khyber Pass. From
Kabul he was to proceed over the mountain passes of the
Pamir plateau as far as Yarkand and thence into Eastern
Turkestan. This was the limit of the Great Mogul's
domain. From this point on everything was unknown.
Hopefully Goes would pick up the merchants who, every
fifth year, set out for China with the ambassadors of the
King of Persia.

Before leaving Goa Goes paid his respects to the still
incorrupt body of another Jesuit, Francis Xavier, that lay
in the church of Bom Jesus, Old Goa. Francis Xavier
had left Rome in 1540 to evangelise the East. He worked
in India "consumed by a divine impatience" but the
ruthlessness and dissolute example of the Portuguese
officials which undid so much of the work he had begun,
had made him "flee", as he put it, to other distant fields
such as Japan. He even wrote a strong letter to the King
of Portugal advocating that stern measures be taken
against corrupt Portuguese officials, such as confiscating
their ill-gotten gains. From Japan Francis Xavier
travelled to China, but as a foreigner he was refused
entrance. On December 3rd, 1552, then only forty-six
years old, he died, attended by a faithful Chinese
servant, gazing from a bamboo hut across at the
inaccessible coast of China which he had tried in vain to
enter for four months. His body, clothed in the rich cloak
he had hoped to wear when he met the Emperor of
China, was transported to Goa one and half years after
his death.

Accompanied by Father Antonio Machado who was to
replace him at the court of Akbar, Goes left Goa at the
beginning of 1602 on the gruelling seven-month journey
to Agra.

Their vessel stopped at the bar at the entrance to
Surat. The bar was a small low island three miles from
the mouth of the river Tapti which became navigable for
smaller ships at spring tide. They travelled some twenty
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miles up river. In the distance could be seen, on the
right hand side, the walls of Surat castle, with a number
of cannons pointing to the river. They entered the city
through a gate over a draw-bridge. The captain of the
castle had two hundred horse at his disposal. They
passed the maidan, a large open space, in the middle of
which stood a kind of may-pole, on which a light was
hung. This was where the great Hindu festivals were
observed. The drumming of the tom-toms and the long,
plaintive, blasts of the conch shells, drew them to where
a large crowd had gathered. Women in gold sarees,
carrying oil-lamps, led a procession of gaily decorated
elephants carrying icons wrapped in red silk on their
backs. Another elephant, much bigger, following behind,
carried a statue of a deity. Two old Brahmin priests
wrapped in saffron garments, walked on either side of
the elephant, fanning the deity with exquisite fans made
out of peacock feathers. The throng watched silently as
their Lord passed by. Between the castle and maidan
were the bazaar and cattle and horse market. There were
many fine houses belonging to the merchants who lived
and traded there. They passed a dirty square where the
Untouchables — the outcasts — eked out their days,
where superstition had imprisoned them. The city was
encompassed by ditches and fenced with thick hedges.
Gates led out of the city. They chose the gate leading to
Nausari, on the river Purna, twenty miles south of Surat.
Near this gate was a massive square reservoir with stone
steps leading down to it from all sides. Under the shade
of a sacred tree faqgirs sat in contemplation. It was
believed spirits dwelt in this tree. The tree had been cut
down and uprooted by Mohammedans but each time the
tree had sprung up again. Bats by the thousand hung
upside down from the many branches of a huge banyan
tree, emitting a most shrill cacophony.

On the way they observed men swaying from the tops
of palmyra palms, from the fermented juice of which the
intoxicating toddy or tari was made. That night they met
carousers who had partaken too much of the palm wine.

The inhabitants of Nausari were largely Parsee
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cotton-weavers. The Parsees are Zoroastrians. The
Zoroastrians follow the teachings of the Persian prophet
Zarathustra. It is an ancient religion founded some six
centuries before the birth of Christ, and based on the
dualistic nature of the universe, symbolised by the
continuous struggle between the god of creation and
light, Ormazd, and the god of destruction and darkness,
Ahriman. At the centre of the temple burns a flame,
which is the focus of their worship. The Zoroastrians
neither cremate nor bury their dead. The dead are laid,
wrapped in sheets, their heads tenderly rested on
V-shaped wooden pillows, on gratings at the top of a tall
building called the Tower of Silence. Here the vultures
prey on the corpse. You are destined for hell or heaven
according to which eye is plucked out first. One such
Tower of Silence had been built on the banks of the river
Purna. They could see the black creatures, fluttering and
preening their filthy wings as they gorged themselves.

At night the two Jesuits stayed whenever possible in
serais or inns specially built for travellers. Travellers
could lodge for little or nothing, provided they brought
their own bedding, cooking utensils and other
necessities. In smaller towns there were no serais. But in
the larger cities there would be some. Some serais were
good and could be locked, with entry in or out only by
permission of a porter. Other serais were uninhabitable,
being little more than stables, if that. On occasion they
kept with them their horses in their ‘room’, such as it
was, for fear of horse thieves. These serais were built out
of the generosity of philanthropic rich men. They would
also build wells and cisterns close to much-travelled
highways so that passers-by could drink. Or they would
pay poor people to sit by the roadside and offer water to
passers-by.

Goes and his party crossed the Purna and another
river — the Mindhola — in boats. They travelled for
several days. Whenever they could the Jesuits stayed in
territory which was within the Mogul King's jurisdiction.
Here they were likely to receive better treatment. In lands
outside Akbar’'s jurisdiction they could not claim any
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consideration by invoking Akbar's authority and were
often subject to vile abuse, threats and even stoning. It
was hard not to be angry when someone spat an arrow
of red betel juice at you, words of abuse — banchot
(bastard) — ringing in your ears.

They passed many strange places, saw all manner of
different people, saw many strange practices and
customs they had only heard about. In general the
people went about naked, save for a little cloth about
their middle. The women often wore a large spot of red
on their forehead and a great stroke of red up to the
crown. The better off had their necks, arms and ears
decked with rings of silver, copper or tin, and with round
hoops of ivory, adorned with amber stones and agates.
Hindu temples abounded. The sacred fig tree seemed an
essential adjunct in most temple grounds. While cows
and goats wandered in and out wherever they pleased,
grey monkeys dozed contentedly on the pipal boughs or
searched in each other’s fur. In the temples were idols
that appeared monstrous to western eyes: some
fashioned like peacocks, and some like a devil with huge
mouths, their ears gilded and full of jewels, their teeth
and eyes of gold, silver and glass. Occasionally a low,
round, white-washed dome would shelter an altar on
which stood a primitive lingam — phallic symbol. The
altar would be covered in marigold flowers and bilva
leaves. One would always remove one’s shoes before
entering the temples. Occasionally one came across
sadhus (hermits) living in caves in the most unlikely
places. There was one who lived in a cave, which
appeared just as a black hole, high up a precipitous cliff
face. The hermit was visible as a small naked figure
against the background of his long black hair. For over
thirty years, in an unknown corner of the world, he had
been gathering happiness on his old mat.

After many days of travel along dusty, sandy roads,
some wide enough only for a cart, they reached
Akbarpur, on the mighty Narbada river, which divided
Hindustan (India) from the Deccan. A large fort and
castle guarded the approaches. It was an important
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garrison town. No person of any account could enter or
leave without the permission of the governor of the
castle. Below the castle was the ferry quay from which
boats carried passengers and horses — but not camels
— across the river, over a mile wide. Camels were able to
cross further down the river where it was shallow
enough, but very stony. A family of elephants gambolled
in the water, firing jets of water through their trunks
over their own backs or that of their neighbours. They
passed a group of self-sufficient soldiers who were
carrying their own boats on carts.

The road got progressively worse. In parts it was
barely a road at all, stony and in parts so steep that
laden beasts could barely get up the mountain paths.

In the distance the castle and fort of Mandhu came
into view, perched precipitously two thousand feet high
on the crest of the Vindhya Mountains and isolated by a
valley four hundred yards wide and three hundred feet
deep. They looked up at the almost vertical ramparts
that extended about thirty-seven miles in circumference.
The place was impregnable. No wonder it had been more
by internal treason than external force that had enabled
Humayan — Akbar's father — to take the city in 1534
from Bahadur Shah of Gujarat, who had captured it
from the last of the Khalji kings. They entered through
the massive, southern Tarapore gate above which was a
platform to take a cannon. But there was no cannon.
Mandhu was once the most famous city in India; now it
was a mere ghost, all ruined and decayed, except for
some tombs and a few mosques, by the ravages of war. It
had been sacked yet again by Akbar in 1570. They
passed the great Jama Masjid mosque built by Hoshang
Shah. Near the mosque was the tall Tower of Victory,
one hundred and seventy steps high, peppered with
windows and look-out posts. It was erected by Sultan
Mahmud I in 1443 to commemorate his defeat of Rana
Kumbha of Chitor. They passed the tombs of Khalji
kings. Here and there were large cisterns or reservoirs.
As the city was on the crest of a high mountain the only
water available was what rain water could be collected in
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the cisterns. They passed out of the city through the
north or Delhi gate.

Ahead of them stretched the vast Indian plain, a vast
plateau which extended as far as the Gulf of Bengal, a
plain which could swallow up more than half of Europe
and still be empty. Day in and day out a blazing sun
roasted them from morning till night. The roads
continued bad — or worse. The only excitement,
unwelcome and dangerous as it was, was the frequent
attacks by dacoits and robbers who infested the highway.

They reached the river Sipra on which stood Ujjain,
once the capital of Malwa and one of the seven sacred
cities of Hindus. It had been sacked by Akbar in 1571,
one year after he had taken Mandhu. It still retained
some fame as a trading centre for cotton cloths and
various drugs. Poppy fields, from which opium was
extracted, abounded. The pickers would give the poppy
head three scratches from which would issue small tears
of milky juice, at first white but which changed to red
with the cold of the night. A viceroy of Akbar resided in
Ujjain.

On the way to Shahjahanpur they were waylaid by a
posse of Rajputs and Kolis who demanded their gras
(levy) or blackmail. They passed an escort of one
hundred horse who were guarding a caravan carrying
pice, small copper coins, payment for some of Akbar's
soldiers. Goes wondered if they had been stopped to pay
their gras. Most unlikely! A huge flock of wild fowl rose
as one as they came upon a large reservoir, full of water
lilies and the sacred lotus.

From Sunera on to Sarangpur, a large city with a
castle on the banks of the river Kali Sind. Sarangpur was
renowned for its excellent turbans and good linen. A
turban would come in useful as part of his disguise so
Goes visited the bazaar and haggled over a price.

The roads were now little more than rough cart-
tracks. Sometimes they were wide enough to let only one
cart pass. These narrows were ideal places for an
ambush. They were often attacked by robbers using
bows and arrows. Another European (William Finch) later
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described the way as "theevish, stony, full of trees, a
desert passage.”

Cuckra’s claims to fame seemed to be opium and
Mewa wine.

Through tamarind and mango trees they reached
Sironj, in territory where several Rajput princes ruled.
Betel gardens proliferated. It was the leaf of the piper
betel from which pan was used for chewing with the
betel-nut. They tried some. They laughed at their red
mouths and lips.

Narwar lay on the right bank of the river Sind. Its
castle was perched precipitously on the top of a high hill.
Like the castle at Mandhu the steep ramparts made it
virtually impregnable. Like Mandhu, it was now a ghost
town, a town of ruins. What stories these old palaces
could tell with their dark history of tyranny and poison
and garrottings.

The outlines of a castle on the top of a high
mountain indicated they were approaching the city of
Gwalior. This castle used to be the frontier post of the
kingdom of Delhi. As they neared the city they could see
the castle was well-nigh impregnable, built on the top of
a steep mountain of rock, with towers and battlements
guarding every possible approach. At the foot of the
mountain lay the city with its gardens and houses. A
spacious meadow was kept for horses in times of war.
On the east side stood a peak with the tombs of famous
men and women. On the west side stood the castle,
looking down from its perch on the top of a steep craggy
cliff. They showed their firman to the guard at the gate at
the bottom of the cliff. There was no entry to the castle
without permission. They began climbing the steps of the
narrow, stone, walled-in, causeway that led one mile up
to the castle. On the way they had to pass through three
further gates, each heavily defended. A huge elephant,
curiously carved in stone, greeted them at the last gate,
leading to the castle itself. The gate led them into the
Palace of Man Sing, its cupolas covered with domes of
gilt copper, now green. The Palace was now the
governor's residence. The Palace also contained a
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notorious prison to which were sent traitorous nobles
and princes sentenced to death. About two months after
their arrival they would be executed. The governor would
lead the prisoner out on to the top of the castle wall.
Here he would be given a stupefying decoction of the
milky juice of the poppy. Having drunk this he would be
cast down on to the rocks below.

Before reaching Dholpur they crossed the very wide
Chambal river. As they approached Agra they passed
Fatehpur Sikri. In the distance could be seen the stone
wall encircling Akbar’'s former palace there. The Jama
Masjid looked out from its commanding position on a
hill.

They heaved a sigh of relief. It was not too long now
to Agra. The heat had been so intense, at times they felt
half roasted alive. During the hot season the heat had
swept like a fire throughout the country. Their bodies
were red with ‘prickly heat’, the itching unbearable. The
rain had provided a welcome break. But that, too, had
brought sudden, terrible floods. Sometimes the rain
would continue unbroken all day and night, flooding
fields and swelling the rivers. |

Seven months after leaving Goa Goes and Machado
arrived in Agra.






Chapter 10

Agra To Lahore

The Mir-i-Arz — the officer who presented people at
the Emperor’s court, resplendent in a tunic of fine, sheer
Bengal linen, his Mahratta turban at a rakish angle —
asked the Persian merchant his name. “Banda Abdullah”,
the man replied, splendidly attired in flowing cabaia
(tunic) and elegant turban, a large curved sword at his
side, upturned sandals on his feet. A bow and quiver of
arrows hung from his shoulder. The merchant was
presented to one of the Secretaries of State, who in turn,
announced the man to the Emperor. Gold leaf and
mosaic were everywhere. The faint perfume of splintered
sandalwood hung in the air. The Persian saluted the
King with the taslim, touching the ground with the back
of his right hand and then rising and bringing the palm
up to the crown of the head, adding the words as salam
alaikum. He kept his gaze down.

Wa-alaikum as-salam came the reply.

The Emperor seated on a cushion of finest Benares
brocade, was dressed in a white tunic, made like a shirt,
tied with strips on one side. He wore a yellow turban, in
which blazed a single great diamond, set round with
emeralds.

The King, from out his large eyes, gazed at the face of
the finely-dressed merchant for some considerable time.
The merchant, his face still cast down, lifted his eyes up
to glimpse the Emperor. He wanted to laugh, but such
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hilarity in the presence of His August Majesty, Jalalludin
Akbar, would have cost him his head. The atmosphere
became tense as the King still gazed intently on the
merchant’s face. The merchant stepped forward a pace to
get nearer the King. Immediately two omrahs pinned his
arms back. It was all too easy for an assassin to lunge at
the King.

“Brother Bento”, the merchant said.

The King jumped back on his sumptuous throne.